
 South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 

 OFFERING STATEMENT 



 Issuer Name  South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 Doing Business As  The Dis�llery at South Shore 
 Offering Amount  $50,000 – $250,000 

 Security Type  Secured Loan 
 Interest Rate  7.75% 
 Maturity  6 months interest-only followed by 54 months fully amor�zing 
 Payments  Monthly, disbursed to investors quarterly 
 Security Interest  Purchase money lien in the equipment to be purchased 
 Guaranty  Talleyrand Holdings, LLC 

 First Payment  30 days a�er campaign end date 

 The Dis�llery at South Shore is the culmina�on of a unique and trendse�ng concept for an 
 establishment that is poised to become a des�na�on within the City of Pi�sburgh. This project seeks to 
 capitalize and pay homage to its rich history as the Joseph S. Finch Dis�llery, originally established on 
 this site in 1856, represen�ng the last pre-prohibi�on dis�llery in the City of Pi�sburgh. The Dis�llery 
 will be a mul�-faceted space that includes a dis�llery with a tas�ng room, an upscale convenience 
 market, an ar�san marketplace, a public dining house, a public/private cigar club, 10,000 sf event space 
 with full catering facili�es, and a roo�op bar and grill. The Dis�llery at South Shore will operate much of 
 the 
 premises as owner-operators and master tenant; that said, we will be strategically subleasing to ar�sans, 
 cra� producers, and promising restaurateurs on the first, second, and third floors. Other urban areas 
 have had very successful models of this concept opera�ng for years. To name a few: The Source in 
 Denver, Chelsea Market in NYC, Reading Terminal in Philadelphia, Eataly in Chicago, and DeKalb Market 
 in Atlanta. Each of these venues have enjoyed tremendous success in leveraging the burgeoning 
 farm-to-table, locally-sourced, cra� and ar�sanal trends which have been gathering momentum and 
 strength. Despite recent and frequently recurring recogni�on as a foodie and restaurant mecca, 
 Pi�sburgh lacks such a venue. More broadly, given the renaissance of Pi�sburgh as a technology and 
 robo�cs powerhouse and its a�endant growth, the �me is now to establish one and capture the trend 
 se�ng successful venues of other ci�es. Building upon and augmen�ng these concepts, we will 
 incorporate seven-year operator Big Spring Spirits to serve as anchor and spirits producer to serve as the 
 heart which pumps the blood of fine spirits into the body of the establishment. 

 Name of issuer: South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 State of Organiza�on: Pennsylvania 
 Date Company Was Formed: 8/3/2021 
 Type of Company: Limited Liability Corpora�on 
 Physical Address: 412 Pine Trees Drive Carnegie, PA 15106 

OFFERING SUMMARY 

COMPANY OVERVIEW 

COMPANY ELIGIBILITY 



 Web Address: thedis�llerypgh.com 
 # of Employees: 10 

 The Issuer cer�fies that all of the following statements are true: 

 ●  The Issuer is organized under, and subject to, the laws of a State or territory of the 
 United States or the District of Columbia. 

 ●  The Issuer is not subject to the requirement to file reports pursuant to Sec�on 13 or 
 Sec�on 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934. 

 ●  The Issuer is not an investment company registered or required to be registered under 
 the Investment Company Act of 1940. 

 ●  The Issuer is not ineligible to rely on this exemp�on under Sec�on 4(a)(6) of the 
 Securi�es Act as a result of a disqualifica�on specified in Rule 503(a) of 
 Regula�on Crowdfunding. 

 ●  The Issuer has filed with the Commission and provided to investors, to the extent 
 required, the ongoing annual reports required by Regula�on Crowdfunding during the 
 two years immediately preceding the filing of this offering statement. 

 ●  The Issuer is not a development stage company that (a) has no specific business plan or 
 (b) has indicated that its business plan is to engage in a merger or acquisi�on with an 
 uniden�fied company or companies. 

 ●  The Issuer, or any of its predecessors, has never failed to comply with the ongoing 
 repor�ng requirements of Rule 202 of Regula�on Crowdfunding. 

 OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 

 NAME  CLASS  % OWNERSHIP 
 Talleyrand Holdings, LLC  Limited Liability Corpora�on  100.0% 

 The above is the only ownership outstanding for the company. The ownership interests of a Pennsylvania 
 Limited Liability Corpora�on give the owner the right to share in the profits of the company. 

 Key Persons of Issuer 
 Below is a list of the key officers of the Issuer along with their principal occupa�on, office, date of 
 joining, and responsibili�es for the past three years. 

 Anthony J. Mazzarini, Jr. 
 Employer: South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 Title: Managing Member 
 Dates of service: 2017 - Present 
 Other Experience: Experienced developer and real estate owner including retail, mixed-use, educa�onal 
 and residen�al projects. Thirty year opera�onal experience in convenience store and retail management. 

 An experienced manager and real estate owner and developer, Tony is the owner and operator of 



 Parkway Service (  www.parkwayservicesta�on.com  ), a family-owned retail gasoline facility and 
 was the managing partner of SFM Energy, LLC, a three-member firm that acquired, renovated, 
 and operated thirty-three retail gas, convenience store, car wash, and service centers. SFM 
 Energy also purchased and held the distribu�on rights of the Shell gasoline distribu�on for 
 Western Pennsylvania. In 2009, Tony and his partners sold the distribu�on rights and nearly all of 
 the gasoline and service center loca�ons. A�er dives�ng SFM Tony has been a driving force 
 behind several retail and mul�-family real estate projects. Tony earned a BA in Economics from 
 Columbia University in 1985. 

 Eric M. Kraemer 
 Employer: South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 Title: Managing Member 
 Dates of service: 2017 - Present 
 Other  Experience:  Experienced  commercial  real  estate  developer,  broker  and  asset  manager  and 
 CFO  being  involved  in  Class  A  Office,  Medical  Office,  Flex,  Mul�-Family  and  Retail  proper�es.  Eric 
 also has ownership and management experience in bar/restaurant loca�ons. 

 Eric is an experienced commercial real estate owner, broker and asset manager. He is the Principal of 
 Cedarcove Capital Ventures, LLC and has, or has had, ownership of Class A Office, Medical Office, Flex, 
 Mul�-Family and Retail proper�es in his porfolio. Eric worked 8+ years in residen�al real estate 
 development and then 13 years for a regional commercial real estate developer with a porfolio in excess 
 of 2.5 million square feet. During that �me, Eric focused most of his energy on his roles as CFO, COO, and 
 eventually Chief Investment Officer, where he focused on real estate financing and investor rela�ons. 
 Eric  began  Cedarcove  in  2013.  Eric  earned  a  BA  in  Business  Administra�on  from  Duquesne  University  in 
 1992.  Eric  is  also  a  licensed  real  estate  broker  in  the  Commonwealth  of  Pennsylvania.  He  is  the  broker  of 
 record for Cedarcove Capital Ventures, LLC. 

 Garry McCann 
 Employer: South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 Title: Chief Financial Officer 
 Dates of service: 2022 - Present 

 Employer: Big Spring Spirits 
 Title: CFO 
 Dates of service: 12/2021 - present 

 Employer: Cox Communica�ons, Inc. 
 Title: Senior Director of Finance 
 Dates of service: 8/2011 - 12/2021 

 35+ years of finance and opera�ons leadership leading strategy and driving execu�on across all 
 func�onal areas for mul�-loca�on, $1B+ organiza�ons. 



 Kevin Lloyd 
 Employer: South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 Title: Managing Member 
 Dates of service: 2017 - Present 

 Founder and Produc�on Manager, Big Spring Spirits: Kevin has successfully leveraged his scien�fic 
 background and talents in molecular and cell biology into a successful foray into the world of dis�lling 
 cra� spirits. Having managed as many as 100 employees in laboratory opera�ons for his company, Kevin 
 has drawn upon his experiences as owner and founder of Oxygen Research to develop a robust line of 
 cra� spirits and other beverages. In addi�on, Kevin has been instrumental in growing Big Springs Spirits 
 with his grassroots, organic sales efforts. Kevin will be tasked with overseeing opera�ons and product 
 line development for The Dis�llery. 

 Richard Mongiovi 
 Employer: South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 Title: Managing Member 
 Dates of service: 2017 - Present 
 Other Experience: Owner, Mongiovi & Son Plumbing 

 1982-present 

 h�ps://  www.linkedin.com/in/rick-mongiovi-78915028/ 

 There are no other officers (or persons occupying a similar status or performing a similar func�on) of the Issuer. 

 While the City of Pi�sburgh has many a�rac�ons, it has few des�na�ons. The crea�on of a des�na�on is 
 our focus. 

 The Dis�llery at South Shore seeks to leverage trends in the marketplace, create an overarching 
 aesthe�c around them, and do so in a building whose character and history -- the former Joseph S. Finch 
 Dis�llery, established and built-in 1856, and the last pre-Prohibi�on dis�llery in the City of Pi�sburgh -- 
 accentuates it: 

 •  Ar�san and cra� products 
 •  Locally-sourced 
 •  Farm-to-table 
 •  Cra�/small-batch spirits 
 •  Experien�al trends: Experiences are being more valued than "stuff" 

 The Dis�llery at South Shore will merge and concentrate many different yet synergis�c offerings within 
 the venue. The aim is to draw patrons in and keep them engaged by bringing under a single roof: an 



 upscale convenience store, a dis�llery, an ar�san marketplace, a tas�ng room featuring cra� spirits, 
 microbrews and fine wines, event space for up to 400 people, a galley-style restaurant concept which will 
 feature several dis�nct concepts within, a public/private cigar club and a riverside roo�op bar with a 
 spectacular city skyline views. 

 Crea�ng synergy and variety creates a “something for everyone” experience. Hos�ng myriad 
 complementary products and services will keep patrons engaged throughout. For example, one might 
 start by visi�ng the dis�llery, enjoy tas�ngs of cra� spirits, microbrews or Italian wines paired with 
 ar�san meats, cheeses, and perhaps chocolates, move upward to the restaurant level for a fuller meal, 
 and finally re�re to the roo�op to enjoy the sunset over an ar�sanal cocktail. A calendar peppered with 
 myriad events, exposi�ons, and fresh concepts ought to support a tagline of: "There's always something 
 happening at The Dis�llery." Think of The Dis�llery at South Shore as a Dave & Buster’s --on steroids --for 
 adults. Add to this the traffic generated by the volume of events expected at The Dis�llery and a very 
 real poten�al exists for the crea�on of a powerhouse venue." 

 Below is a summary of the Company’s expected use of funds: 

 Item  Cost 

 2500L S�ll  $92,550 

 Hea�ng Element - 
 30KW/480V/3PH  $9,760 

 2200L (600G) Fermenter  $41,300 

 4000L (1000G) Mixing Tank  $38,600 

 6000L (1500G) Storage Tank  $38,900 

 S�ll Control Panel and Valves  $21,890 

 1.5KW/3PH XP 2" TC 
 Stainless Steel Pump Truck  $7,000 

 Total  $250,000 



 A crowdfunding investment involves risk. You should not invest any funds in this offering unless you 
 can afford to lose your en�re investment. In making an investment decision, investors must rely on 
 their own examina�on of the issuer and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks 
 involved. These securi�es have not been recommended or approved by any federal or state securi�es 
 commission or regulatory authority. Furthermore, these authori�es have not passed upon the 
 accuracy or adequacy of this document. 

 The U.S. Securi�es and Exchange Commission does not pass upon the merits of any securi�es offered 
 or the terms of the offering, nor does it pass upon the accuracy or completeness of any offering 
 document or literature. 

 These securi�es are offered under an exemp�on from registra�on; however, the U.S. Securi�es and 
 Exchange Commission has not made an independent determina�on that these securi�es are exempt 
 from registra�on. 

 You Might Lose Your Money 
 When  you  buy  a  cer�ficate  of  deposit  from  a  bank,  the  Federal  government  (through  the  FDIC) 
 guarantees  you  will  get  your  money  back.  Buying  a  Note  is  not  like  that  at  all.  The  ability  of  the  Company 
 to  make  the  payments  you  expect,  and  ul�mately  to  give  you  your  money  back,  depends  on  a  number  of 
 factors, including many beyond our control. 

 COVID-19 Might Have a Nega�ve Material Effect on the Company 
 This  offering  is  being  launched  at  a  �me  when  the  COVID-19  pandemic  is  requiring  the  closure  of  many 
 businesses,  large  and  small.  The  effects  COVID-19  may  have  on  economic  ac�vity  are  likely  substan�al 
 and  (as  of  this  wri�ng)  unknown;  there  is  no  guaranty  the  Company  will  not  suffer  material  nega�ve 
 effects as a direct or indirect result of the pandemic. 

 No Opera�ng History 
 The Company has not yet begun opera�ons. 

 Compe��on 
 The  market  in  which  we  operate  is  highly  compe��ve.  The  Company  competes  with  many  other 
 businesses,  both  large  and  small,  on  the  basis  of  quality  and  price  of  products,  loca�on  and  customer 
 experience.  Changes  in  customer  preference  away  from  the  Company’s  core  business  or  the  inability  to 
 compete  successfully  against  other  compe�tors  could  nega�vely  affect  the  Company’s  financial 
 performance. 

 Licensing Risk 
 The  Company  may  face  changes  in  the  state  and  federal  laws  in  connec�on  to  any  licensing  required  for 
 the  sale  of  its  products.  Such  changes  would  require  the  dedica�on  of  Company  resources  to  address  or 
 amend its current opera�ons which may adversely affect its business strategy or profitability. 

 Interest Rate Might Not Adequately Compensate For Risk 



 Theore�cally,  the  interest  rate  paid  by  a  company  should  compensate  the  creditor  for  the  level  of  risk 
 the  creditor  is  assuming.  There  is  no  certainty  that  the  interest  rate  on  your  Note  will  compensate  you 
 adequately for the level of risk. 

 No Right to Par�cipate in Management 
 As  the  owner  of  a  Note,  you  will  not  have  the  right  to  control  the  Company  in  any  way  or  to  par�cipate  in 
 its  management.  You  should  invest  (buy  a  Note)  only  if  you  are  willing  to  rely  completely  on  the 
 Company’s management team. 

 Limited Products And Services 
 Most small, local businesses sell only one or two products or services, making them vulnerable to 
 changes in technology and/or customer preferences. 

 Supplier Risk 
 The  Company  relies  on  third-party  suppliers  for  the  materials  used  in  the  manufacture  of  its  products.  If 
 any  of  these  suppliers  changes  the  pricing,  distribu�on,  terms  of  service,  or  rela�onship  with  the 
 Company,  this  could  materially  affect  its  business  and/or  profitability.  Factors  outside  of  the  Company’s 
 control,  including  general  market  condi�ons,  may  affect  its  rela�onship  with  these  suppliers.  In  addi�on, 
 its  ability  to  meet  the  obliga�ons  of  its  customers  may  be  adversely  affected  if  its  suppliers  fail  to  comply 
 with agreed-upon services or quality standards in a cost-effec�ve or �mely manner. 

 Risk of Economic Downturn 
 The products the Company sells are luxuries, not necessi�es. In the event of a recession or other 
 economic downturn, customers might curtail their purchase of our products. 

 Environmental Risk 
 The  Company  is  subject  to  the  risk  of  environmental  liability  and  limita�ons  on  opera�ons  due  to 
 environmental  laws  and  regula�ons.  The  Company  is  subject  to  extensive  federal,  state,  and  local 
 environmental,  health  and  safety  regula�ons.  The  risks  of  substan�al  costs  and  liabili�es  related  to 
 compliance  with  these  laws  and  regula�ons  is  an  inherent  part  of  the  Company’s  business.  Future 
 condi�ons  may  develop  or  be  discovered  that  create  substan�al  environmental  compliance  or 
 remedia�on liabili�es and costs. 

 Price Risk 
 The  Company  competes  in  an  industry  with  a  commodity  product  where  the  Company  may  not  have 
 control  of  the  prices  it  will  receive  for  its  product  or  the  prices  it  must  pay  for  inputs.  Price  uncertainty 
 may nega�vely impact the Company’s business and financial situa�on. 

 Use of Funds Risk 
 At the discre�on of the Company’s execu�ve management team, funds raised in this offering may be 
 used differently than specifically outlined in this document’s Use of Funds sec�on. 

 Personnel Risk 
 The Company uses human personnel to produce its product. Accidents, illnesses, death, divorce, or lack 
 of produc�vity could nega�vely impact the ability of personnel and, therefore, the business. 

 Lack Of Accoun�ng Controls 



 Larger companies typically have in place strict accoun�ng controls. Smaller companies like the Company 
 lack these controls, exposing themselves to addi�onal risk. 

 Reputa�on Risk 
 The success of the Company depends on the reputa�on of its brand. Adverse publicity concerning the Company’s 
 products or the Company itself could nega�vely impact the future of its business. 

 The Company Might Need More Capital 
 The  Company  might  need  to  raise  more  capital  in  the  future  to  expand  its  opera�ons,  buy  property  and 
 equipment,  hire  drivers  and  other  personnel,  market  its  products  and  services,  pay  overhead  and 
 general  administra�ve  expenses,  or  a  variety  of  other  reasons.  There  is  no  assurance  that  addi�onal 
 capital  will  be  available  when  needed,  or  that  it  will  be  available  on  terms  that  are  not  adverse  to  your 
 interests  as  an  investor.  If  the  Company  is  unable  to  obtain  addi�onal  funding  when  needed,  it  could  be 
 forced to delay its business plan or even cease opera�ons altogether. 

 Future Investors Might Have Superior Rights 
 If  the  Company  needs  more  capital  in  the  future,  it  might  borrow  money  and/or  sell  stock,  and  the  new 
 investors  might  have  rights  superior  to  those  of  an  investor  owning  a  Note.  For  example,  they  might  have 
 the  right  to  be  paid  before  you  are,  to  receive  larger  distribu�ons,  to  have  a  greater  voice  in 
 management, or otherwise. 

 Inability To Sell Your Note 
 The  law  prohibits  you  from  selling  your  Note  (except  in  certain  very  limited  circumstances)  for  one  year 
 a�er  you  acquire  it.  Even  a�er  that  one-year  period,  a  host  of  Federal  and  State  securi�es  laws  may  limit 
 or  restrict  your  ability  to  sell  your  securi�es.  Even  if  you  are  permi�ed  to  sell,  you  will  likely  have 
 difficulty  finding  a  buyer  because  there  will  be  no  established  market.  Given  these  factors,  you  should  be 
 prepared to hold your Note for its full term. 

 Limita�on of Individual Rights in Event of Default 
 In  the  event  of  a  default  under  the  Notes,  an  individual  investor  will  not  have  the  right  to  enforce  his,  her 
 or  its  rights  –  for  example,  by  bringing  a  lawsuit.  Instead,  the  investors  will  appoint  a  representa�ve  using 
 a  procedure  set  forth  in  the  Note  Purchase  Agreement.  It’s  possible  that  the  investors  as  a  group  will 
 appoint  a  representa�ve  you  don’t  like,  or  that  the  representa�ve  will  do  things  you  believe  are  wrong  or 
 misguided.  Once  a  default  has  occurred  and  a  representa�ve  has  been  appointed,  all  the  expenses  of  the 
 representa�ve must be paid before any further payments are made with respect to the Notes. 

 Lack of Key Man Insurance 
 The  Company  will  carry  Key  Man  Insurance  on  Kevin  Lloyd.  Although  dependent  on  other  key  personnel, 
 the  Company  does  not  have  any  key  man  life  insurance  policies  on  any  such  people  other  than  Mr.  Lloyd. 
 In  the  event  that  such  personnel  die  or  become  disabled,  the  Company  will  not  receive  compensa�on  to 
 assist for their absence and the loss of such person could nega�vely affect the Company. 

 The Owners Could Be Bad People Or Do Bad Things 
 The  owners  of  the  Company  could  be  dishonest  and  take  your  money.  Even  people  who  are  very  honest 
 some�mes  do  dishonest  things  in  desperate  situa�ons  –  for  example,  when  their  company  is  on  the  line, 
 or  they’re  going  through  a  divorce  or  other  stressful  life  event.  It  is  possible  that  the  management  of  the 
 Company, or an employee, would steal from or otherwise cheat the Company, and you. 



 Uninsured Losses 
 Although  the  Company  will  carry  some  insurance,  we  might  not  buy  enough  insurance  to  guard  against 
 all  the  risks  of  our  business.  Also,  there  are  some  kinds  of  risks  that  are  simply  impossible  to  insure 
 against,  at  least  at  a  reasonable  cost.  Therefore,  we  could  incur  an  uninsured  loss  that  could  damage  our 
 business. 

 Conflict Of Interest 
 In  many  ways  your  interests  and  the  interests  of  the  Company’s  management  team  will  coincide:  you  all 
 want  the  Company  to  be  as  successful  as  possible.  However,  your  interests  might  be  in  conflict  in  other 
 important areas, including these: 

 ●  You  might  want  to  keep  the  compensa�on  of  managers  low,  while  managers  want  to  make  as 
 much as they can. 

 ●  You  might  want  the  Company  to  act  conserva�vely  to  conserve  its  cash,  while  the  management 
 team might want to grow more quickly. 

 ●  You  might  want  the  Company  to  look  out  for  your  interests,  while  the  management  �me  might 
 subordinate your interests to the interests of employees, other investors, or others. 

 ●  The  lawyers  who  prepared  the  legal  documents  represent  the  interests  of  the  Company,  not  the 
 interests of investors. 

 ●  Management  team  might  own  and/or  operate  a  business  which  might  be  a  compe��ve 
 business  No Registra�on Under Securi�es Laws 
 The  Notes  will  not  be  registered  with  the  SEC  or  the  securi�es  regulator  of  any  State.  Hence,  neither  the 
 Company  nor  the  Notes  are  subject  to  the  same  degree  of  regula�on  and  scru�ny  as  if  they  were 
 registered. 

 Incomplete Offering Informa�on 
 Title  III  does  not  require  us  to  provide  you  with  all  the  informa�on  that  would  be  required  in  some  other 
 kinds  of  securi�es  offerings,  such  as  a  public  offering  of  shares  (for  example,  publicly-traded  firms  must 
 generally  provide  investors  with  quarterly  and  annual  financial  statements  that  have  been  audited  by  an 
 independent  accoun�ng  firm).  Although  Title  III  does  require  extensive  informa�on,  as  described  above, 
 it is possible that you would make a different decision if you had more informa�on. 

 Lack Of Ongoing Informa�on 
 The  Company  will  be  required  to  provide  some  informa�on  to  investors  for  at  least  one  year  following 
 the  offering.  However,  this  informa�on  is  far  more  limited  than  the  informa�on  that  would  be  required 
 of  a  publicly-repor�ng  company;  and  the  Company  will  be  allowed  to  stop  providing  annual  informa�on 
 in certain circumstances. 

 The Company is Not Subject to the Corporate Governance Requirements Of Na�onal Securi�es  Exchanges 
 Any  company  whose  securi�es  are  listed  on  a  na�onal  stock  exchange  (for  example,  the  New  York  Stock 
 Exchange)  is  subject  to  a  number  of  rules  about  corporate  governance  that  are  intended  to  protect 
 investors.  For example, the major U.S. stock exchanges require listed companies to have an audit 



 commi�ee  made  up  en�rely  of  independent  members  of  the  board  of  directors  (i.e.,  directors  with  no 
 material  outside  rela�onships  with  the  company  or  management),  which  is  responsible  for  monitoring 
 the  company’s  compliance  with  the  law.  The  Company  will  not  be  required  to  implement  these  and 
 other investor protec�ons. 

 Cost of Enforcement 
 If the Company defaulted, investors would have to engage lawyers and possibly other third par�es to 
 enforce their rights. The cost of enforcement could be prohibi�ve. 

 Other Lenders Could Have Superior Rights 
 The  Company  will  take  out  other  loans.  In  itself  this  is  not  risky,  but  these  lenders  will  likely  have  a  claim 
 to  collateral  superior  to  the  collateral  claimed  by  the  Note.  For  example,  the  lenders  might  have  a  claim 
 to  the  future  cash  flows  or  equity  ownership  of  the  Company,  or  the  equipment  owned  by  the  Company 
 whereas  the  Note  has  a  claim  to  the  equipment  purchased  with  its  own  proceeds.  Moreover,  the  lenders 
 might  have  clauses  in  their  lending  agreements  with  the  Company  that  compel  the  Company  to  pay 
 them  first  over  other  lenders.  If  the  Company  runs  out  of  cash,  and  has  a  choice  to  pay  the  other  lenders 
 or the Holders of the Note, it might decide (or be required) to pay its other lenders first. 

 The Guarantors Might Not Have Money 
 The  Notes  are  being  personally  guaranteed  by  Talleyrand  Holdings,  LLC.  That  means  that  if  the  company 
 fails  to  make  the  payments  required  by  the  Notes,  investors  can  look  to  the  guarantors  for  payment. 
 However, the guarantors themselves might not have the money to repay investors. 

 The Company Will Require Addi�onal Funding 
 The  Company  will  need  to  secure  addi�onal  capital  in  order  to  successfully  execute  its  business  plan, 
 beyond  what  is  being  sold  in  this  offering.  If  the  Company  fails  to  raise  addi�onal  capital,  the  project  may 
 not be not be successful. 

 Dram Shop Liability Risk 
 The Company plans to serve alcoholic beverages on its premises, subject to local, state and federal laws 
 and regula�ons. Under law, if an establishment serves alcoholic beverages to a visibly intoxicated 
 person, that establishment (in this case, the Company) is liable for any damages caused by that person, 
 even if these damages occur outside of Company property, or a �me subsequent to the service of 
 alcoholic beverages to that person (this is known as Dram Shop liability). The Company could be subject 
 to legal liability if the persons or en��es so injured sue the Company and the resul�ng liability is not 
 covered by insurance. 

 Social Host Liability Risk 
 Insofar as the Company plans to serve alcoholic beverages on its premises, it incurs the risk that it might 
 serve these beverages to minors, either knowingly or unknowingly. If this occurs, the Company or its 
 employees might be subject to criminal penal�es or arrest, impeding their ability to operate the 
 Company or damaging the Company’s brand or reputa�on. Moreover, the Company might be liable for 
 any damages not covered by insurance caused by an underage person under the influence of alcohol, to 
 the extent that the Company or its employees knowingly served alcohol to an underage person. 



 Premises Liability Risk 
 The Company plans to serve beer at a physical tap room. Even if the Company complies with all 
 applicable laws and regula�ons concerning the service of alcoholic beverages, and even if nobody at its 
 events consumes alcohol, customers might become injured due to the negligence of the Company. For 
 example, customers might fall because the taproom was constructed improperly. If the customers so 
 injured sue the Company, the resul�ng liability might not be covered by insurance. 

 Minimum Target Goal  Maximum Target Goal 
 Total Proceeds  $50,000  $250,000 
 Less: Intermediary Fee*  $4,000  $16,500 

 Less: Admin Fee**  $109  $109 

 Net Proceeds  $45,891  $233,391 

 * Applied at a marginal-rate based upon amount raised: 
 Up to $50,001 - $100,000 = 7.0%, $100,001 - $250,000 = 6.0%, 

 ** $84 fee to file UCC-1 with Pennsylvania Department of State + $25 processing fee 

 If the sum of the investment commitments does not equal or exceed the Minimum Target Goal 
 amount as of the Offering Deadline, no securi�es will be sold in the offering, investment commitments 
 will be canceled, and all commi�ed funds will be returned. 

 The following describes the process to invest in South Shore Dis�lling, LLC and how an investor’s 
 transac�on and delivery of securi�es will be completed. 

 a.  Investor Commitment:  Through the Honeycomb Portal,  an investor will submit a 
 requested investment amount. As a part of this process, an investor will execute an 
 investment contract with South Shore Dis�lling, LLC (“Note Purchase Agreement”) 
 by way of the investor’s electronic signature. 

 b.  Acceptance of Investment  : Upon comple�on of the investment  commitment, the 
 investor will receive via email a confirma�on of their transac�on detailing the amount, 
 terms, and date of execu�on. 

 c.  Investor  Transfer  of  Funds  :  Upon  receiving  confirma�on  that  an  investment  has  been 
 accepted,  the  investor  will  transfer  funds  to  the  escrow  account  of  a  third-party  bank 
 managed by Honeycomb Portal. 



 d.  Early  Closings  :  If  the  target  offering  amount  is  met  prior  to  the  original  deadline  date,  we 
 may  close  the  offering  earlier,  but  no  less  than  21  days  a�er  the  date  on  which  the  Form 
 C is posted on the Honeycomb Portal. 

 e.  Book Entry  : All investments will be in book entry  form. This means that the Investor will 
 not receive a cer�ficate represen�ng their investment. Each investment will be 
 recorded by Honeycomb Portal and visible by the investor through their Investor 
 Dashboard. 

 Investors  may  cancel  an  investment  commitment  un�l  48  hours  prior  to  the  deadline  iden�fied  in  these 
 offering materials. 

 The intermediary will no�fy investors when the target offering amount has been met. 

 If  the  issuer  reaches  the  target  offering  amount  prior  to  the  deadline  iden�fied  in  the  offering  materials, 
 it  may  close  the  offering  early  if  it  provides  no�ce  about  the  new  offering  deadline  at  least  five  business 
 days prior to such new offering deadline (absent a material change that would require an extension of 
 the offering and reconfirma�on of the investment commitment). 

 If  an  investor  does  not  cancel  an  investment  commitment  before  the  48-hour  period  prior  to  the  offering 
 deadline, the funds will be released to the issuer upon closing of the offering and the investor will 
 receive securi�es in exchange for his or investment. 

 If an investor does not reconfirm his or her investment commitment a�er a material change is made to 
 the offering, the investor’s investment commitment will be canceled and the commi�ed funds will be 
 returned. 

 Note:  For more informa�on about the investment and  cancella�on process, see Honeycomb’s Educa�on 
 Materials. 

 Details of Security Being Offered 

 The securi�es being offered to investors are promissory notes, which we refer to as “  Notes  .” The Notes 
 are governed by a separate document called a Note Purchase Agreement, which you can view on the 
 “Investor Info” tab of the campaign page. 

 This sec�on summarizes the principal features of the Note Purchase Agreement. However, this is only a 
 summary. Before inves�ng, you should read the Note Purchase Agreement in their en�rety. 

 The principal amount of your Note will be the amount you invest. 

 Your  Note  will  accrue  interest  at  a  rate  of  7.75%  per  year.  The  accrual  of  interest  will  begin  a�er 
 a  30-day  interim  period  following  the  closing  date  of  the  offering  –  that  is,  when  the  money  paid 
 by investors is released to the Company – not on the date you invest. 
 Your  Note  will  pay  interest-only  for  the  first  6  months  following  the  30-day  interim  period.  A�er 

 six  months,  the  loan  will  become  fully  amor�zing  and  accrue  interest  and  principal  payments  for 
 the remainder of the term. 



 The Company must pay the accrued interest on a quarterly basis (every three months), star�ng 
 30-days a�er the closing date of the offering. 
 The Company must repay your principal (the amount you invested) 54 months from the end of 

 the 30-day interim period or, if sooner, the date that the Company is sold or otherwise 
 experiences a “change of control.” The Company may also prepay the Note. Any prepayments 
 will first be applied to accrued interest, then to principal. 

 All communica�ons from the Company, including but not limited to all tax forms, will be via 
 electronic delivery. 

 All payments will be made in U.S. dollars as Automated Clearing House (ACH) deposits into an 
 account you designate. If you don’t authorize the Company to make such ACH distribu�ons into 
 a designated account, payments will be made by check and mailed to you a�er deduc�ng a $50 
 processing fee. 

 Once you pay for your Note, you will have no obliga�on to contribute more money to the 
 Company, and you will not be personally obligated for any debts of the Company. 

 If  there  is  a  default  under  your  Note,  you  may  not  take  collec�on  ac�on  personally.  Instead,  you 
 and  the  other  investors  will  together  appoint  a  single  representa�ve  to  represent  all  of  you.  This 
 Administra�ve  Agent  will  have  the  power  to  take  any  ac�on  against  the  Company  that  he  or  she 
 believes is appropriate. The fees and any expenses of the Administra�ve Agent will be the 
 responsibility  of  the  Company,  but  the  Administra�ve  Agent  will  be  paid  before  any  addi�onal 
 amounts are paid to you or other investors. 

 If you want to sell your Note, you must first offer to sell it back to the company – a so-called 
 “first right of refusal.” If the Company doesn’t buy it, the Company may impose restric�ons on 
 the transfer. For example, the Company may require a legal opinion that the transfer is allowed 
 under the securi�es laws. 

 The Note offered does not have any vo�ng rights. 

 The Terms of the Note being offered may not be modified or amended. 

 Restric�ons on Transfer of the Securi�es Being Offered 

 The Note will be illiquid (meaning you might not be able to sell it) for four reasons: 

 -  The Note Purchase Agreement prohibits the sale or  other transfer of Notes without the 
 Company’s consent. 

 -  If you want to sell your Note, the Company will have the first right of refusal to buy it, which could 
 make it harder to find a buyer. 

 -  Even if a sale were permi�ed, there is no ready market for Notes as there would be for a 
 publicly-traded company. 



 -  For a period of one year, you will not be allowed to transfer the Note except (i) to the Company 
 itself, (ii) to an “accredited” investor, (iii) to a family or trust, or (iv) in a public offering of the 
 Company’s shares. 

 As a result, you should plan to hold your Note un�l maturity. 

 1.  How may the rights of the securi�es being offered be materially limited, diluted or qualified by 
 the rights of any other class of security iden�fied above? 

 The Company does not have the right to change the terms of the promissory notes or the Note Purchase 
 Agreement. However, it does have the right to create addi�onal classes of securi�es, both equity 
 securi�es and debt securi�es. Some of these addi�onal classes of securi�es could have rights that are 
 superior to those of the promissory notes. For example, the Company could issue promissory notes that 
 are secured by specific property of the Company. 

 2.  Are there any differences not reflected above between the securi�es being offered and each other 
 class of security of the issuer? 

 The owners of the promissory notes will not have the right to share in the profits of the company or 
 par�cipate in the management of the company. 

 3.  How could the exercise of rights held by the principal shareholders affect the purchasers of the 
 securi�es being offered? 

 The principal shareholders could make decisions that are bad for the company and thereby adversely 
 affect the economic interests of investors holding promissory notes. They could also issue other classes 
 of securi�es with rights superior to those of investors holding promissory notes. 

 4.  How are the securi�es being offered being valued? Include examples of methods for how such 
 securi�es may be valued by the issuer in the future, including during subsequent corporate ac�ons. 

 The value of the Notes is determined by the face amount of the note payable to be issued. The terms of 
 the Notes were determined by the Owner based on the Owner’s opinion about the value of the project. 

 The Owner does not expect there to be any reason to place a value on the Notes in the future. In the 
 event that future valua�on is required, any value given the notes by the company will be determined in 
 accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoun�ng principles. 

 5.  What are the risks to purchasers of the securi�es rela�ng to minority ownership in the issuer? 



 n/a 

 6.  What are the risks to purchasers associated with corporate ac�ons, including addi�onal issuances 
 of securi�es, issuer repurchases of securi�es, a sale of the issuer or of assets of the issuer or 
 transac�ons with related par�es? 

 The company could issue securi�es with rights superior to those of the promissory notes. 

 If the company is sold, the owners of the promissory notes have the right to receive all of the principal 
 and accrued interest. 

 Transac�ons with related par�es – for example, the payment of excessive compensa�on – could reduce 
 the amount of money available to make payments with respect to the promissory notes. 

 7.  What other exempt offerings has the issuer conducted within the past three years? 

 Yes - South Shore Dis�lling LLC raised $255,512.86 in Promissory Notes through Regula�on CF on 
 February 4, 2022. 

 8.  The issuer or any en��es controlled by or under the common control with the issuer was not a party 
 to any transac�on since the beginning of the issuer’s last fiscal year, or any currently proposed 
 transac�on, where the amount involved exceeds five percent of the aggregate amount of capital 
 raised by the issuer in reliance on Sec�on 4(a)(6) of the Securi�es Act during the preceding 12-month 
 period, including the amount the issuer seeks to raise in the current offering, in which any of the 
 following persons had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest: 

 1.  any director or officer of the issuer; 
 2.  any person who is, as of the most recent prac�cable date, the beneficial owner 

 of 20 percent or more of the issuer’s outstanding vo�ng equity securi�es, 
 calculated on the basis of vo�ng power; 

 3.  if the issuer was incorporated or organized within the past three years, any 
 promoter of the issuer; 

 4.  or (4) any immediate family member of any of the foregoing persons. 

 The Company will engage in business opera�ons that may interact with other commercial en��es 
 owned and managed by the owners of this Company. Related en��es that share ownership with this 
 Company include Ni�any Valley Dis�lling LLC, 129 McKean Street LLC, TDR Cigar LLC, and Talleyrand 
 Holdings LLC. 



 The Company will grant to investors a first lien security interest in the equipment purchased with the 
 proceeds of the loan, pursuant to a Security Agreement in the form a�ached as Exhibit B. Honeycomb 
 Collateral LLC will ini�ally serve as the Administra�ve Agent for the investors under the Security 
 Agreement, although investors may replace them at any �me. By signing the Note Purchase Agreement 
 investors will agree to engage the services of Honeycomb Collateral LLC to serve in this role as the 
 Administra�ve Agent. 

 The Company needs funds from this offering to commence opera�ons. Without these funds, the 
 Company would need to find other investment to begin opera�ons. At this �me, the Company may need 
 to raise addi�onal capital either through debt or equity. 

 The Company is seeking to raise funds during this period of uncertainty related to the COVID-19 
 pandemic and its financial future cannot be guaranteed. 

 See Exhibit D for Audited Financials of the Company. 

 The fiscal year end for this business is December 31. 

 There have been no changes in the company ownership for the period reviewed. 

 With respect to the issuer, any predecessor of the issuer, any affiliated issuer, any director, officer, 
 general partner or managing member of the issuer, any beneficial owner of 20 percent or more of the 
 issuer’s outstanding vo�ng equity securi�es, any promoter connected with the issuer in any capacity at 
 the �me of such sale, any person that has been or will be paid (directly or indirectly) remunera�on for 
 solicita�on of purchasers in connec�on with such sale of securi�es, or any general partner, director, 
 officer, or managing member of any such solicitor, prior to May 16, 2016: 



 1)  None of any such person has been convicted, within 10 years (or five years, in the case of 
 issuers, their predecessors and affiliated issuers) before the filing of this offering statement, of any felony 
 or misdemeanor: 

 i)  in connec�on with the purchase or sale of any security; 

 ii)  involving the making of any false filing with the SEC; 

 iii)  arising out of the conduct of the business of an underwriter, broker, dealer, municipal 
 securi�es dealer, investment adviser, funding portal or paid solicitor of purchasers of securi�es. 

 2)  None of any such person has been subject to any order, judgement or decree of any court of 
 competent jurisdic�on, entered within five years before the filing of informa�on required by Sec�on 
 4A(b) of the Securi�es Act that, at the �me of filing of this offering statement, restrains or enjoins 
 such person from engaging or con�nuing to engage in any conduct or prac�ce: 

 i)  in connec�on with the purchase or sale of any security; 

 ii)  involving the making of any false filing with the Commission; 

 iii)  arising out of the conduct of the business of an underwriter, broker, dealer, municipal 
 securi�es dealer, investment adviser, funding portal or paid solicitor of purchasers of securi�es. 

 3)  None of any such person has been subject to a final order of a state securi�es commission (or 
 an agency or officer of a state performing like func�ons); a state authority that supervises or 
 examines banks, savings associa�ons or credit unions; a state insurance commission (or an agency or 
 officer of a state performing like func�ons); an appropriate federal banking agency; the U.S. 
 Commodity Futures Trading Commission; or the Na�onal Credit Union Administra�on that: 

 i)  at the �me of the filing of this offering statement bars the person from: 
 a)  associa�on with an en�ty regulated by such commission, authority, agency or 

 officer; 
 b)  engaging in the business of securi�es, insurance or banking; 
 c)  engaging in savings associa�on or credit union ac�vi�es; or 

 ii)  cons�tutes a final order based on a viola�on of any law or regula�on that prohibits 
 fraudulent, manipula�ve or decep�ve conduct for which the order was entered within 
 the 10-year period ending on the date of the filing of this offering statement. 

 4)  None of any such person has been subject to an order of the Commission entered pursuant to 
 Sec�on 15(b) or 15B(c) of the Exchange Act or Sec�on 203(e) or (f) of the Investment Advisers Act of 
 1940 that, at the �me of the filing of this offering statement: 

 i)  suspends or revokes such person’s registra�on as a broker, dealer, municipal securi�es 
 dealer, investment adviser or funding portal; 

 ii)  places limita�on on the ac�vi�es, func�ons or opera�ons of such person; 



 iii)  bars such person from being associated with any en�ty with any en�ty or from 
 par�cipa�ng in the offering of any penny stock. 

 iv)  None of any such person has been subject to any order of the Commission entered 
 within five years before the filing of this offering statement that, at the �me of the filing of this 
 offering statement, orders the person to cease and desist from commi�ng or causing a 
 viola�on or future viola�on of: 
 v)  any scienter-based an�-fraud provision of the federal securi�es laws, including 
 without limita�on Sec�on 17(a)(1) of the Securi�es Act, Sec�on 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 
 Sec�on 15(c)(1) of the Exchange Act and Sec�on 206(1) of the Investment Advisers Act of 
 1940 or any other rule or regula�on thereunder; 
 vi)  Sec�on 5 of the Securi�es Act; 

 5)  None of any such person has been suspended or expelled from membership in, or 
 suspended or barred from associa�on with a member of, a registered na�onal securi�es exchange 
 or a registered na�onal or affiliated securi�es associa�on for any act or omission to act 
 cons�tu�ng conduct inconsistent with just and equitable principles of trade. 

 6)  None of any such person filed (as a registrant or issuer), or was any such person or was any 
 such person named as an underwriter in, any registra�on statement or Regula�on A offering statement 
 filed with the Commission that, within five years before the filing of this offering statement, was the 
 subject of a refusal order, stop order, or order suspending the Regula�on A exemp�on, or is any such 
 person, at the �me of such filing, the subject of an inves�ga�on or proceeding to determine whether a 
 stop order or suspension order should be issued. 

 7)  None of any such person has been subject to a United States Postal Service false representa�on 
 order entered within five years before the filing of the informa�on required by Sec�on 4A(b) of the 
 Securi�es Act, or is any such person, at the �me of filing of this offering statement, subject to a 
 temporary restraining order or preliminary injunc�on with respect to conduct alleged by the United 
 States Postal Service to cons�tute a scheme or device for obtaining money or property through the mail 
 by means of false representa�ons. 

 All informa�on presented to investors is hosted on honeycombcredit.com in the “Investor Info” Sec�on 
 of the campaign page. 

 The issuer will file a report electronically with the Securi�es & Exchange Commission annually and post 
 the report on its website, no later than 120 days a�er the end of each fiscal year covered by the report. 

 The Issuer must con�nue to comply with the ongoing repor�ng requirements un�l: 

 1)  the issuer is required to file reports under Sec�on 13(a) or Sec�on 15(d) of the Exchange Act; 
 2)  the issuer has filed, since its most recent sale of securi�es pursuant to this part, at least one 

 annual report to this sec�on and has fewer than 300 holders of record; 



 3)  the issuer has filed, since its most recent sale of securi�es pursuant to this part, the annual 
 reports required pursuant to this sec�on for at least the three most recent years and has total 
 assets that do not exceed $50,000,000; 

 4)  the issuer or another party repurchases all of the securi�es issued in reliance on Sec�on 4(a)(6) 
 of the Securi�es Act, including any payment in full of debt securi�es or any complete 
 redemp�on of redeemable securi�es; or 

 5)  the issuer liquidates or dissolves its business in accordance with state law. 

 NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 Dated as of %%TODAY%% 
 by and among 

 South Shore Distilling, LLC, 

 as the Issuer, 

 AND 

 %%VESTING_AS%%, 
 as the Holder 

 AND 

 HONEYCOMB COLLATERAL LLC, solely in its capacity as Administrative Agent 

 NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 This NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (including all exhibits and schedules hereto, as the 
 same may be amended, modified and/or restated from time to time, this "  Agreement  ") is 
 entered into as of %%TODAY%%, by and among South Shore Distilling, LLC (the "  Issuer  "), 
 each person purchasing a promissory note referencing this Agreement (each a “  Holder  ” and 
 collectively the, "  Holders  "), and HONEYCOMB COLLATERAL  LLC, solely in its capacity as 
 Administrative Agent (the “  Administrative Agent  ”). 



 W I T N E S S E T H: 
 WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to sell certain of its promissory notes to the Holders, and the 
 Holders desire to purchase such notes, to fund certain commercial aspects of the Issuer’s 
 business as more particularly described herein (the "  Purpose  "); 

 WHEREAS, Holders wish to purchase such promissory notes of the Company pursuant to an 
 offering exempt from registration under section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “  Title 
 III Offering  ”), conducted on  www.HoneycombCredit.com  (the “  Site  ”) maintained by Honeycomb 
 Credit, Inc. (the “  Portal  ”); 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, provisions and covenants 
 contained herein, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 ARTICLE I 
 DEFINITION 

 S 

 I.  1  Recitals  . The Recitals are incorporated herein as  if set forth at length. 

 I.  2  Defined  Terms  .  Capitalized  terms  not  otherwise  defined  in  this  Agreement 
 have  the  meanings  given  to  them  in  the  Form  C  filed  by  the  Issuer  with  the  Securities  and 
 Exchange  Commission  and  available  on  the  Site,  which  we  refer  to  as  the  “Disclosure 
 Document.”  The  Disclosure  Document,  together  with  this  Agreement,  the  Notes,  any  security 
 instruments  (if  applicable),  and  any  other  document  or  instrument  executed  in  connection  with 
 any of the foregoing are collectively referred to as the “Loan Documents.” 

 ARTICLE II 
 NOTE PURCHASE TERMS 

 2.1  Purchase of Notes  . 
 The Issuer will issue and sell to certain of the Holders, and such Holders will purchase from the 
 Issuer, promissory notes of the Borrower in substantially the form of  Schedule 2.1  (each a 
 "  Note  " and collectively, the "  Notes  ") in the aggregate  principal amount not to exceed $  3,080,000 
 (the "  Borrowing Limit  "). The date on which the Issuer  will issue and sell the Notes and the 
 Holder shall purchase the Note, shall be the "  Closing  Date  ". The Issuer may sell Notes 
 pursuant to this Agreement for a duration consistent with the Disclosure Document. Issuer shall 
 keep a schedule of Notes purchased by each Holder, and the purchase price therefore. Holder 
 will not receive a paper document representing Holder’s Note. 

 2.2  Payment Terms  . 



 (a)  Repayment  . Each Note shall be repaid by the Issuer under the terms and 
 conditions set forth below with payments to Holders commencing on or before the l ast business 
 day 30 days after the Offering Period has ended and continuing each month thereafter through the 
 Maturity Date with interest payable as set forth in the chart below. 

 Issuer Name  South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 Doing Business As  The Dis�llery at South Shore 
 Offering Amount  $50,000 - $250,000 

 Security Type  Secured Loan 
 Interest Rate  7.75% 
 Maturity  6 months interest-only followed by 54 months fully amor�zing 
 Payments  Monthly, disbursed to investors quarterly 
 Security Interest  Purchase money lien in the equipment to be  purchased. 
 Corporate Guaranty  Talleyrand Holdings, LLC 

 First Payment  30 days a�er campaign end date 

 (b)  Security  .  As  security  for  repayment  of  the  Note,  the  Issuer  hereby  grants  to  the 
 Holders  a  purchase  money  security  interest  in  and  lien  upon  the  collateral  (“Collateral”) 
 described  in  the  chart  above  to  be  evidenced  by  the  appropriate  security  agreement,  mortgage, 
 or  other  security  instrument(s)  and  included  as  a  Loan  Document  contemplated  by  this 
 Agreement. 

 2.3  Payments  . 

 (a)  ACH  Deposit  .  All  payments  of  principal  and  interest  on  the  Notes  will  be  made 
 in  U.S.  dollars  as  Automated  Clearing  House  (ACH)  deposits  into  an  account  designated  (the 
 “Designated  Account”)  by  each  Holder  at  the  Site.  Each  Holder  acknowledges  and  agrees  that 
 any payment made timely to the Designated Account shall be deemed delivered even if the 



 payment  is  rejected,  or  otherwise  unable  to  be  transferred  because  the  Holder’s  Designated 
 Account  is  no  longer  valid  for  any  reason.  Whenever  any  payment  is  due  on  a  day  that  is  not  a 
 business  day,  such  payment  will  be  due  on  the  next  following  business  day.  Each  payment  will 
 be  applied  first  to  any  fees  charges  and  expenses  authorized  under  the  Loan  Documents, 
 including  the  reasonable  fees  and  expenses  of  the  Administrative  Agent,  then  to  accrued  but 
 unpaid interest on the Notes, and then to the outstanding principal balances of the Notes. 

 (b)  Non-ACH  Payments  Processing  Fee  .  To  the  extent  a  Holder  does  not 
 authorize  the  Issuer  to  make  ACH  distributions  into  its  Designated  Account,  payments  to  such 
 Holder  will  be  made  by  check  and  mailed  to  such  Holder  at  the  address  provided  by  Holder  on 
 the  Site  after  deduction  by  the  Issuer  from  each  such  check  of  a  Fifty  Dollar  ($50)  processing 
 fee  (the  “Processing  Fee”).  All  Processing  Fees  shall  be  credited  against  the  outstanding 
 amounts  due  under  such  Holder’s  Note.  In  the  event  the  monthly  amount  payable  to  such 
 Holder  is  less  than  the  Processing  Fee,  the  balance  of  the  Processing  Fee  shall  accumulate  and 
 be  payable  out  of  the  Issuer’s  next  payment  installment  to  the  Holder.  In  the  event  the  total 
 amount  that  remains  outstanding  under  such  Holder’s  Note  is  less  than  the  amount  of  the 
 accumulated  Processing  Fee,  the  obligations  due  and  owing  to  the  Holder  under  its  Note  shall 
 be deemed satisfied and paid in full. 

 2.4  Equalization Among Holders  . 
 Each Note is on parity with all Notes issued pursuant to this Agreement and rank equally, 
 without preference among themselves. Any amounts to be distributed pursuant to this 
 Agreement and the Notes to the Holders shall be made pro rata in proportion to the amount 
 then outstanding under each Holder’s respective Note. 

 2.5  Maximum Lawful Rate  . 
 In no event shall Issuer be obligated to pay interest on the Note to the extent it exceeds the 
 highest rate of interest that may be lawfully contracted for, charged or received by such Holder, 
 and in such event the Issuer shall pay such Holder interest at the highest rate permitted by 
 applicable law. 

 2.6  No  Right  to  Cancel.  Each  Holder  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  this  is  a 
 commercial  transaction  and  that  the  Holder  has  no  right  to  cancel  its  subscription  or  rescind  this 
 Agreement.  Once  the  Holder  signs  this  Agreement,  electronically  or  otherwise,  the  Holder  is 
 obligated  to  purchase  the  Note  on  the  terms  and  conditions  set  forth  in  this  Agreement  and  as 
 described  in  the  Disclosure  Document,  including,  but  not  limited  to,  instances  where  the 
 principal amount of the Note is reduced consistent with the Disclosure Document. 

 2.7  Issuer’s  Right  to  Reject  Subscription.  Each  Holder  acknowledges  and  agrees 
 that  Issuer  has  the  right  to  reject  the  Holder’s  subscription  for  any  reason  or  for  no  reason  by 
 returning  the  money  provided  to  the  Issuer  to  the  applicable  Holder’s  Designated  Account 
 whose subscription has been rejected. 

 ARTICLE III 



 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 3.1  Issuer’s Representations and Warranties  . The Issuer  represents and 
 warrants to each Holder that the following are, and immediately after giving effect to the 
 transactions contemplated hereby will be, true, correct and complete: 

 (a)  Power  and  Authorization  .  The  Issuer  has  the  power  and  authority  and  all 
 authorizations,  consents  and  approvals  to  execute,  deliver,  and  perform  its  obligations  under 
 this Agreement and the Notes. 

 Binding  Effect  .  This  Agreement  and  the  Notes  constitute  a  legal,  valid  and  binding 
 obligations  of  the  Issuer,  enforceable  against  the  Issuer  in  accordance  with  their  respective 
 terms,  except  as  enforceability  may  be  limited  by  applicable  bankruptcy,  insolvency,  or  similar 
 laws  affecting  the  enforcement  of  creditors'  rights  generally  or  by  equitable  principles  relating  to 
 enforceability. 

 3.2  Holder’s  Representations  and  Warranties  .  Each  Holder  hereby  severally,  but 
 not  jointly,  represents  and  warrants  to  the  Issuer  as  follows  as  of  the  date  hereof  and  as  of  the 
 Closing Date: 

 (a)  Accuracy of Information  . All of the information the  Holder has given to the 
 Issuer (whether in this Agreement, at the Site, or otherwise) is accurate and the Issuer may rely 
 on it. If any of the information Holder has given to Issuer changes before the Issuer accepts 
 Holder’s subscription, Holder will notify the Issuer immediately. Holder agrees to indemnify and 
 hold Issuer, and each of their respective directors, officers, employees and representative 
 harmless for any damages, losses, or claims (including reasonable attorney fees and costs) 
 incurred by Issuer that result from or arise out of inaccurate information provided by Holder. 

 (b)  Risks  . Holder understands all the risks of investing,  including the risk that 
 Holder could lose its entire investment in the Issuer evidenced by the Note and this 
 Agreement. Without limiting that statement, Holder acknowledges and agrees that it has 
 reviewed and understands each of the risks listed under “Risk Factors” in the Disclosure 
 Document. 

 (c)  No Representations  . No person (i) has made any promises  or 
 representations to Holder, except for the information contained in the Disclosure Document; or 
 (ii)  has guaranteed any financial outcome for Holder’s investment. 

 (d)  Escrow Account  . Each Holder understands that its money  will be held in an 
 escrow account in one or more banks prior to funding the loan to the Issuer for the stated 
 Purpose. If any of these banks became insolvent, such money could be lost. 



 (e)  Opportunity to Ask Questions  . Each Holder has had  the opportunity to ask 
 questions about the Issuer and the investment, which questions have been answered to the 
 Holder’s satisfaction. 

 (f)  Legal  Power  to  Sign  and  Invest  .  Holder  has  the  legal  power  to  sign  this 
 Agreement  and  purchase  the  Note.  Holder’s  investment  does  not  violate  any  contract  Holder 
 has entered into with any other individual or entity. 

 (g)  Acting On Holder’s Behalf  . Each Holder acknowledges  and agrees that it is 
 acting on its own behalf in purchasing the Note, not on behalf of any other individual or entity. 

 (h)  Investment Purpose  . Holder is purchasing the Note  solely as an 
 investment, not with an intent to re-sell or “distribute” any part of the Note. 

 (i)  Knowledge  .  Holder  has  enough  knowledge,  skill,  and  experience  in 
 business, financial, and investment matters to evaluate the merits and risks of the investment. 

 (j)  Financial Forecasts  . Holder understands that any financial  forecasts or 
 projections are based on estimates and assumptions the Issuer believes to be reasonable but 
 are highly speculative. Given the industry, any forecasts or projections will probably prove to 
 be incorrect. 

 (k)  Financial Wherewithal  . Holder can afford this investment,  even if Holder 
 loses the entirety of its investment. Holder does not rely on its cash or other property used in 
 this investment to pay for any of Holder’s current living necessities, including but not limited to, 
 Holder’s food, housing, and utilities. 

 (l)  No Government Approval  . Holder understands that no  state or federal 
 authority has reviewed this Agreement or the Note or made any finding relating to the value 
 or fairness of the investment. 

 (m)  No Advice  . Each Holder acknowledges and agrees that  the Issuer has not 
 provided the Holder with any investment, financial, or tax advice. Each Holder has been 
 advised to consult with its own legal and financial advisors and tax experts prior to entering into 
 this Agreement. 

 (n)  Tax Treatment  . If any withholding tax is imposed on  any payment made by 
 Issuer to a Holder pursuant to a Note, such tax shall reduce the amount otherwise payable with 
 respect to such payment. Upon request of Issuer, the Holder shall provide the Issuer with an 
 Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 or other similar withholding certificate of a State, local or 
 foreign governmental authority such that the Issuer may make payments under the Note without 



 deduction for, or at a reduced rate of deduction for, any tax. Any taxes owed on the payments to 
 Holder shall be the responsibility of such Holder. 

 (o)  Anti-Terrorism and Money Laundering (Natural Persons)  .  If Holder is a 
 natural person (not an entity), such Holder represents and warrants as follows: 

 (i)  Source of Funds  . None of the money Holder has paid  or will pay or 
 contribute to the Issuer is derived from or related to any activity 
 that is illegal under United States law. 

 (ii)  Anti-Terrorism Laws  . Holder is not on any list of  “Specially 
 Designated Nationals” or known or suspected terrorists that has 
 been generated by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the 
 United States Department of Treasury (“  OFAC  ”), nor  a citizen or 
 resident of any country that is subject to embargo or trade 
 sanctions enforced by OFAC. 

 (iii)  Anti-Money Laundering Laws  . Holder’s purchase of a  Note will not, 
 by itself, cause the Issuer to be in violation of any “anti-money 
 laundering” laws, including, without limitation, the United States 
 Bank Secrecy Act, the United States Money Laundering Control 
 Act of 1986, and the United States International Money Laundering 
 Abatement and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act of 2001. 

 (iv)  Additional Information  . Holder will provide such documentation 
 as may be reasonably requested by the Issuer to verify further 
 the source of funds used to purchase the Note. 

 (p)  Entity Holders  . Each Holder that is a legal entity,  such as a corporation, 
 partnership, or limited liability company, represents and warrants as follows: 

 (i)  Good  Standing  .  Holder  is  validly  existing  and  in  good  standing  under  the  laws 
 of  the  jurisdiction  where  it  was  organized  and  has  full  corporate  power  and  authority  to  conduct 
 its business as presently conducted and as proposed to be conducted. 

 (ii)  Other  Jurisdictions  .  Holder  is  qualified  to  do  business  in  every  other  jurisdiction 
 where the failure to qualify would have a material adverse effect on Holder. 

 (iii)  Authorization  .  The  execution,  delivery,  and  performance  by  Holder  of  this 
 Agreement  and  any  related  Loan  Documents  have  been  duly  authorized  by  all  necessary 
 corporate action. 

 (iv)  Investment  Company  .  Holder  is  not  an  “investment  company”  within  the 
 meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940. 

 (v)  Anti-Terrorism and Money Laundering  . 



 (A)  Source  of  Funds  .  No  funds  used  or  contributed  to  the  Issuer 
 derives  from  or  relates  to  any  activity  that  is  illegal  under  United 
 States law. 
 (B)  Anti-Terrorism  Laws  .  None  of  the  ultimate  owners  of  Holder  is 
 on  any  list  of  “Specially  Designated  Nationals”  or  known  or  suspected 
 terrorists  that  has  been  generated  by  OFAC,  nor  is  a  citizen  or 
 resident  of  any  country  that  is  subject  to  embargo  or  trade  sanctions 
 enforced by OFAC. 
 (C)  Notice  of  Violations.  If  at  any  time  the  Issuer  determines  that 
 any  of  the  representations  in  contained  in  this  subsection  are  untrue 
 or  inaccurate,  or  if  otherwise  required  by  applicable  law  or  regulation 
 related  to  terrorism,  money  laundering,  and  similar  activities,  the 
 Issuer  may  undertake  appropriate  actions  to  ensure  compliance  with 
 applicable  law  or  regulation,  including,  but  not  limited  to  segregation 
 or redemption of such Holder’s Note. 

 ARTICLE IV 
 COVENANTS 

 4.1  Issuer  Covenants.  Issuer  covenants  and  agrees  that,  so  long  as 
 any  of  the  obligations  evidenced  by  the  Loan  Documents  remain  unpaid  or 
 unsatisfied: 

 (a)  Maintenance  of  Property  .  Issuer  shall  maintain  and 
 preserve  all  its  real  and  tangible  property  in  good  working  order  and  condition, 
 ordinary wear and tear and casualty excepted. 

 (b)  Insurance  .  Issuer  shall  maintain  or  cause  to  be  maintained 
 in  full  force  and  effect  all  policies  of  insurance  of  any  kind  (including  policies  of 
 fire,  theft,  public  liability,  property  damage,  other  casualty  insurance)  with  respect 
 to  the  property  of  the  Issuer,  including  any  Collateral,  with  reputable  insurance 
 companies  or  associations  of  a  nature  and  providing  such  coverage  as  is 
 sufficient and as is customarily. 

 (c)  Use  of  Proceeds  .  Issuer  shall  use  the  proceeds  of  the  sale 
 of  the  Notes  solely  for  the  Purposes  stated  herein  and  in  the  Disclosure 
 Document. 

 4.2  Holder  Covenants  .  Each  Holder  covenants  and  agrees  that,  so 
 long as any of the obligations evidenced by its Note remains unpaid or unsatisfied: 

 (a)  Restrictions  on  Holders.  No  Holder  may,  under  any  circumstances  (i)  take 
 any  individual  action  to  collect  a  Note;  or  (ii)  record,  or  try  to  record,  a  Note  or  any  other 
 instrument relating to a Note. 



 (b)  Disclosure.  Holder  agrees  that  Issuer  may  release  confidential 
 information  about  Holder  to  government  authorities  if  Issuer,  in  its  sole  discretion,  determines 
 after  consultation  with  counsel  that  releasing  such  information  is  in  the  best  interest  of  the  Issuer 
 in light of any applicable law or regulation. 

 (c)  Additional  Documents.  Holder  agrees  to  execute  any  additional 
 documents  the  Issuer  requests  if  the  Issuer  reasonably  believe  those  documents  are  necessary 
 or  appropriate  and  explain  that  Holder  is  able  to  bear  the  economic  risk  of  its  investment  in  the 
 Notes for an indefinite duration and is able to afford a complete loss of such investment. 

 (d)  No  Transfer  of  Notes.  Holder  may  not  transfer,  pledge,  encumber,  or 
 otherwise  dispose  of  Holder’s  interest  in  its  Note  at  any  time.  Any  attempt  to  transfer,  pledge, 
 encumber or other dispose of Holder’s interest in its Note shall be void. 

 (e)  Re-Purchase  of  Holder’s  Note.  If  Issuer  decide  that  Holder  has  provided 
 inaccurate  information  or  has  otherwise  violated  its  obligations,  Issuer  may  (but  shall  not  be 
 required to) repurchase or rescind Holder’s Note. 

 ARTICLE V 
 ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT 

 5.1  Appointment  .  Each  Holder  hereby  irrevocably  designates,  appoints  and 
 authorizes  Honeycomb  Collateral  LLC  to  act  as  the  initial  Administrative  Agent  for  such  Holder 
 under  this  Agreement  and  to  execute  and  deliver  or  accept  on  behalf  of  each  of  the  Holder  any 
 Loan  Documents,  including  this  Agreement,  and  any  security  agreement  or  mortgage  or  other 
 document  or  instrument  reasonably  necessary  to  give  effect  to  the  transactions  contemplated  by 
 this  Agreement  and  the  Disclosure  Document.  Each  Holder  hereby  irrevocably  authorizes  the 
 Administrative  Agent  to  take  such  action  on  its  behalf  under  the  provisions  of  this  Agreement 
 and  the  Loan  Documents,  and  to  exercise  such  powers  and  to  perform  such  duties  hereunder 
 as  are  specifically  delegated  to  or  required  of  the  Administrative  Agent  by  the  terms  hereof, 
 together  with  such  powers  as  are  reasonably  incidental  thereto.  Administrative  Agent  agrees  to 
 act  as  the  Administrative  Agent  on  behalf  of  the  Holders  to  the  extent  provided  in  this 
 Agreement. 

 5.2  Nature of Duties. 

 (a)  The  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  no  duties  or  responsibilities  except 
 those  expressly  set  forth  in  this  Agreement  and  no  implied  covenants,  functions,  responsibilities, 
 duties,  obligations  or  liabilities  shall  be  read  into  this  Agreement  or  otherwise  exist.  The  duties  of 
 the  Administrative  Agent  shall  be  mechanical  and  administrative  in  nature  and  shall  not  create 
 any fiduciary or trust relationship in respect of any Holder. 

 (b)  The  function  and  duty  of  the  Administrative  Agent  shall  be:  (i)  to  execute 
 any  security  agreement,  mortgage  or  other  Loan  Document  on  behalf  of  the  Holders  providing 
 for  the  grant  of  a  security  interest  in  favor  of  the  Holders  in  property  of  the  Issuer  as 
 contemplated in the Disclosure Document and in this Agreement; (ii) to enforce the rights and 



 remedies  of  the  Holders  under  any  applicable  Loan  Document,  including  this  Agreement,  upon 
 written  direction  from  the  Required  Holders  (as  defined  below)  (an  “Enforcement  Proceeding”); 
 and  (iii)  to  hold  proceeds  collected  by  Administrative  Agent  following  an  Event  of  Default  by  the 
 Issuer,  including,  but  not  limited  to,  from  the  sale  of  any  Collateral,  and  to  distribute  such 
 proceeds  to  the  Holders  in  an  amount  consistent  with  the  terms  and  conditions  of  this 
 Agreement  and  the  Holder’s  respective  Note;  provided  however,  that  in  connection  with  this 
 subsection  (b)(iii),  only,  each  Holder  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  a  successor  Administrative 
 Agent  to  Honeycomb  Collateral  LLC  must  be  appointed  pursuant  to  Section  5.7,  below,  and  that 
 in no event can Honeycomb Collateral LLC hold or distribute proceeds on behalf of the Holders. 

 (c)  In  connection  with  any  Enforcement  Proceeding,  the  Administrative  Agent 
 shall  have  the  power,  on  behalf  of  each  Holder,  to  pursue  such  remedies  as  may  be  available  by 
 law  and  pursuant  to  this  Agreement,  for  the  purpose  of  maximizing  the  return  to  the  Holders  as 
 a  group,  and  to  settle  the  claims  of  each  Holder  on  such  terms  as  the  Administrative  Agent  may 
 determine  in  its  sole  and  unlimited  discretion,  subject  to  the  other  provisions  of  this  Agreement. 
 The  Administrative  Agent  may  pursue  such  remedies  notwithstanding  that  the  Administrative 
 Agent  does  not  have  physical  possession  of  the  Notes  and  without  naming  the  Holders  as 
 parties. 

 (d)  The  Administrative  Agent  takes  no  responsibility  and  makes  no  statement 
 regarding  the  validity,  extent  or  enforceability  of  the  Loan  Documents  or  the  lien  priority  or 
 position that the Holders will have as a result of the Loan Documents. 

 5.3  Instructions  from  the  Holders  .  The  Administrative  Agent  agrees,  upon  the 
 written  request  of  the  Holders  holding  at  least  a  majority  of  the  then  outstanding  amount  of  the 
 obligations  evidenced  by  the  Notes  on  an  aggregate  basis  (the  “Required  Holders”),  to  take  or 
 refrain  from  taking  any  action  of  the  type  specified  as  being  within  the  Administrative  Agent's 
 rights,  powers  or  discretion  herein,  provided  that  the  Administrative  Agent  shall  not  be  required 
 to  take  any  action  which  exposes  the  Administrative  Agent  to  personal  liability  or  which  is 
 contrary  to  this  Agreement,  any  loan  agreements  with  third  parties  (if  applicable),  or  any  of  the 
 other  Loan  Documents  or  applicable  Law.  Additionally,  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  no 
 obligation  to  comply  with  instructions  from  the  Required  Holders  to  initiate  or  continue  an 
 Enforcement  Proceeding  without  sufficient  funds  being  made  available  in  advance  to 
 Administrative  Agent  to  cover  the  Administrative  Agent’s  out-pocket-expenses,  including,  but  not 
 limited  to,  filing  fees  and  costs,  required  to  initiate  or  continue  such  Enforcement  Proceeding. 
 Any  action  taken  or  failure  to  act  pursuant  to  such  instructions  shall  be  binding  on  the  Holders. 
 No  Holder  shall  have  any  right  of  action  whatsoever  against  the  Administrative  Agent  as  a  result 
 of  the  Administrative  Agent  acting  or  refraining  from  acting  hereunder  in  accordance  with  the 
 instructions  of  the  Required  Holders,  or  in  the  absence  of  such  instructions,  in  the  absolute 
 discretion  of  the  Administrative  Agent.  Holders  acknowledge  and  agree  to  electronic 
 communications  by  and  between  the  Holders  and  the  Administrative  Agent  and  any  Holder’s 
 failure  to  affirmatively  instruct  the  Administrative  Agent  within  the  time  prescribed  by 
 Administrative  Agent  shall  be  deemed  as  the  Holder’s  consent  to  the  action  or  inaction  taken  by 
 the Administrative Agent. 

 5.4  Nonrecourse  Liability  .  The  Administrative  Agent  shall  not  be  liable  to  any 
 Holder for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder, or in connection 



 herewith including pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, unless caused by 
 Administrative Agent’s own gross negligence or willful misconduct. 

 5.5  Reimbursement  and  Indemnification  of  Administrative  Agent  by  Issuer  . 
 Issuer  agrees  to  reimburse,  indemnify  defend  and  save  the  Administrative  Agent  harmless  from 
 and  against  all  liabilities,  costs,  expenses  or  disbursements,  including  attorneys'  fees  and 
 disbursements,  of  any  kind  or  nature  whatsoever  which  may  be  imposed  on,  incurred  by  or 
 asserted  against  the  Administrative  Agent,  in  its  capacity  as  such,  in  any  way  relating  to  or 
 arising  out  of  this  Agreement  or  any  other  Loan  Document;  provided  that  Issuer  shall  not  be 
 liable  for  any  portion  of  such  liabilities,  costs,  expenses  or  disbursements  if  the  same  results 
 from the Administrative Agent's gross negligence or willful misconduct. 

 5.6  Compensation  .  Administrative  Agent  shall  be  entitled  to  compensation 
 and  reimbursement  of  expenses  as  set  forth  below  which  amounts  shall  be  the  obligation  of  the 
 Company and shall be added to the amounts otherwise payable under the Notes: 

 (a)  Flat  Fee  .  As  compensation  to  the  Administrative  Agent  for  the  services 
 provided  by  the  Administrative  Agent  to  the  Holders  in  the  execution  and  documentation  of  any 
 Collateral  securing  the  obligations  evidenced  by  the  Notes,  Holders  acknowledge  and  agree 
 that Administrative Agent may be paid a flat fee. 

 (b)  Hourly  Rate  .  As  compensation  to  the  Administrative  Agent  for  the 
 services  provided  by  the  Administrative  Agent  in  connection  with  any  Enforcement  Proceeding, 
 Administrative  Agent  shall  be  entitled  to  receive  reasonable  compensation  at  the  hourly  rate 
 plus  reimbursement  of  all  out  of  pocket  expenses  reasonably  incurred  by  the  Administrative 
 Agent. 

 (c)  Surcharge  .  Upon  the  occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default  that  is  continuing, 
 all  payments  under  the  Notes  shall  be  directed  to  and  held  in  escrow  until  the  Event  of  Default  is 
 cured  or  otherwise  resolved.  Each  Holder  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  the  Administrative 
 Agent  may  surcharge  (i)  the  Collateral,  if  any,  and  (ii)  the  funds  maintained  in  escrow  in  an 
 amount  equal  to  the  outstanding  and  unpaid  portion  of  the  compensation  due  and  payable  to 
 the  Administrative  Agent  under  the  terms  of  this  Agreement,  prior  to  causing  the  balance  of  said 
 proceeds or funds to be distributed to the Holders on a pro rata basis. 

 5.7  Successor  Administrative  Agent  .  The  Administrative  Agent  (i)  may  resign 
 as  Administrative  Agent  by  providing  Notice  (“Notice  of  Resignation”)  or  (ii)  shall  resign  if  such 
 resignation  is  requested  by  the  Required  Holders,  by  giving  not  less  than  thirty  (30)  days'  prior 
 written  notice  to  the  Holders  and  the  Issuer.  Upon  the  occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default,  each 
 Holder  hereby  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  Honeycomb  Collateral  LLC  shall  resign  as  the 
 Administrative  Agent  and  that  the  Holders  must  appoint  a  successor  Administrative  Agent  on  or 
 before  the  date  specified  in  the  Notice  of  Resignation.  Each  Holder  further  acknowledges  that 
 Honeycomb  Collateral  LLC  cannot  hold  or  distribute  funds  on  behalf  of  any  Holder  and  that  a 
 successor  Administrative  Agent  must  be  appointed  prior  to  the  receipt  of  any  funds  on  behalf  of 
 any  Holder  in  any  Enforcement  Proceeding  or  otherwise.  If  the  Administrative  Agent  resigns 
 under  this  Agreement,  then  either  (a)  the  Required  Holders  shall  appoint  from  among  the 
 Holders  a  successor  agent  for  the  Holders  or  (b)  if  a  successor  agent  shall  not  be  so  appointed 
 and approved within the earlier of:  (i) the thirty (30) day period immediately following the 



 Administrative  Agent's  Notice  of  Resignation;  or  (ii)  the  need  to  appoint  a  successor 
 Administrative  Agent  to  receive  and  distribute  funds  on  behalf  of  Holders,  as  reasonably 
 determined  by  Honeycomb  Collateral  LLC  in  its  sole  discretion,  then  the  Administrative  Agent 
 shall  appoint  a  successor  agent  who  shall  serve  as  Administrative  Agent  until  such  time  as  the 
 Required  Holders  appoint  a  successor  agent.  For  purposes  of  appointing  a  successor 
 Administrative  Agent,  only,  the  Required  Holders  shall  be  determined  by  reference  to  Holders 
 holding  at  least  a  majority  of  the  then  outstanding  amount  of  the  obligations  evidenced  by  the 
 Notes  on  an  aggregate  basis  that  have  cast  a  vote  timely.  Upon  its  appointment  pursuant  to 
 either  clause  (a)  or  (b)  above,  such  successor  agent  shall  succeed  to  the  rights,  powers  and 
 duties  of  the  Administrative  Agent,  and  the  term  "Administrative  Agent"  shall  mean  such 
 successor  agent,  effective  upon  its  appointment,  and  the  former  Administrative  Agent's  rights, 
 powers  and  duties  as  Administrative  Agent  shall  be  terminated  without  any  other  or  further  act 
 or  deed  on  the  part  of  such  former  Administrative  Agent  or  any  of  the  parties  to  this  Agreement. 
 After  the  resignation  of  any  Administrative  Agent  hereunder,  the  provisions  of  this  Agreement 
 shall  inure  to  the  benefit  of  such  former  Administrative  Agent  and  such  former  Administrative 
 Agent  shall  not  by  reason  of  such  resignation  be  deemed  to  be  released  from  liability  for  any 
 actions taken or not taken by it while it was an Administrative Agent under this Agreement. 

 5.8  Calculations  .  In  the  absence  of  gross  negligence  or  willful  misconduct, 
 Holder  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  there  will  be  no  liability  for  any  error  in  computing  the 
 amount  payable  to  any  Holder  whether  in  respect  of  the  Notes,  fees  or  any  other  amounts  due 
 to  the  Holder  under  this  Agreement.  In  the  event  an  error  in  computing  any  amount  payable  to 
 any  Holder  is  made,  the  Administrative  Agent,  the  Issuer  and  each  affected  Holder  shall, 
 forthwith  upon  discovery  of  such  error,  make  such  adjustments  as  shall  be  required  to  correct 
 such error. 

 ARTICLE VI 
 EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

 6.1  Event of Default  . Any of the following shall constitute  an "Event 
 of Default": 

 (a)  Non-Payment  .  The  Issuer  fails  to  pay  to  a  Holder  any  amount  due  and 
 such failure continues for thirty (30) days following written notice to the Issuer; or 

 (b)  Representation  or  Warranty  .  Any  representation,  warranty  or  certification 
 by  or  on  behalf  of  the  Issuer  shall  prove  to  have  been  incorrect  in  any  material  respect  on  or  as 
 of the date made or deemed made; or 

 (c)  Insolvency  .  Issuer  ceases  or  fails  to  be  solvent  or  admits  in  writing  its 
 general  inability  to  pay,  its  debts  as  they  become  due,  subject  to  applicable  grace  periods,  if 
 any; 

 (d)  Breach  of  Other  Obligations  .  Issuer  breaches  a  material  obligation  owed 
 to a third party, including breach of any loan documents with another lender; or 



 (e)  Involuntary  Proceeding  .  The  Issuer  becomes  subject  to  an  involuntary 
 proceeding  of  bankruptcy,  insolvency,  or  otherwise  subject  to  receivership  and  remains  so  for  a 
 period of ninety (90) days; or 

 (f)  Change  of  Control  .  All  outstanding  principal  and  accrued  interest  shall  be 
 immediately  due  and  payable  upon  a  Change  of  Control  of  the  Issuer.  For  these  purposes,  the 
 term  “Change  of  Control”  means  (i)  the  sale  or  other  disposition  of  all  or  any  substantial  portion 
 of  the  assets  or  equity  securities  of  the  Issuer;  (ii)  a  change  in  more  than  fifty  percent  (50%)  of 
 the  effective  voting  power  of  the  Issuer;  or  (iii)  any  merger  or  reorganization  of  the  Issuer,  except 
 a  merger  in  which  those  in  control  of  the  Issuer  retain  more  than  fifty  percent  (50%)  of  the 
 combined voting power of the resulting entity; or 

 (g)  Bankruptcy  . Issuer files a voluntary bankruptcy proceeding. 

 6.2  Remedies  .  Upon  the  occurrence  and  during  the  continuance  of  an  Event 
 of  Default  in  Section  6.1(a)-(f),  then  the  Required  Holders  may  instruct  the  Administrative  Agent 
 to  declare  all  amounts  owed  under  the  Notes  to  be  immediately  due  and  payable.  Upon  the 
 occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default  in  Section  6.1(g),  all  amounts  owed  under  the  Notes  shall 
 automatically  be  accelerated  and  become  immediately  due  and  payable  without  prior  written 
 notice  or  demand.  Upon  the  occurrence  of  any  Event  of  Default  that  is  continuing,  Holders  shall 
 have  the  right  to  exercise  all  rights  and  remedies  available  to  them  under  this  Agreement,  any 
 Loan Document, at law or in equity, consistent with the procedures set forth in this Agreement. 

 6.3  No  Individual  Right  of  Action  .  Each  Holder  acknowledges  and  agrees  that 
 no  Holder  has  an  individual  right  of  action  to  enforce  its  Note  or  any  of  the  Loan  Documents 
 against  the  Issuer  and  is  bound  by  the  decision  and  instructions  provided  to  the  Administrative 
 Agent by the Required Holders consistent with the terms of this Agreement. 

 6.4  Force  Majeure.  An  Event  of  Default  shall  not  be  deemed  to  have  occurred 
 if  a  breach  or  failure  by  the  Issuer  is  caused  by  Acts  of  God,  government  restrictions  (including 
 the  denial  or  cancellation  of  any  export,  close  of  business  or  other  extraordinary  measures), 
 wars,  insurrections  and/or  any  other  cause  beyond  the  reasonable  control  of  the  Issuer; 
 provided  that  the  Administrative  Agent  shall  give  Holders  written  notice  describing  the  force 
 majeure  in  reasonable  detail  given  the  information  presently  available.  Performance  under  the 
 Notes  is  suspended  for  the  period  of  time  in  which  the  force  majeure  is  in  effect,  plus  thirty  (30) 
 days  thereafter  (the  “Force  Majeure  Period”).  The  Force  Majeure  Period  may  be  extended 
 further  in  the  discretion  of  the  Administrative  Agent  with  the  consent  of  the  Required  Holders 
 pursuant  to  the  procedures  outlined  in  Section  5.3  of  this  Agreement.  Any  payments  made  by 
 any  Issuer  during  the  Force  Majeure  Period  are  not  subject  to  refund.  The  term  length  of  the 
 Note shall not be adjusted if the Force Majeure is put into effect. 

 ARTICLE VII 



 MISCELLANEOUS 

 7.1  LIMITATIONS  ON  DAMAGES.  NEITHER  ISSUER  NOR 
 ADMINISTRATIVE  AGENT  WILL  BE  LIABLE  TO  ANY  HOLDER  FOR  ANY  LOST  PROFITS  OR 
 SPECIAL,  CONSEQUENTIAL,  OR  PUNITIVE  DAMAGES,  EVEN  IF  HOLDER  DISCLOSES  IT 
 MIGHT  INCUR  THOSE  DAMAGES.  The  maximum  liability  the  Issuer  or  Administrative  Agent 
 may have to any Holder is the amount of such Holder’s investment as evidenced by the Note. 

 7.2  NO  CLASS  ACTION  CLAIMS.  NO  LAWSUIT  SHALL  PROCEED  ON  A 
 CLASS,  REPRESENTATIVE,  OR  COLLECTIVE  BASIS.  No  party  may  join,  consolidate,  or 
 otherwise  bring  claims  for  or  on  behalf  of  two  or  more  individuals  or  unrelated  corporate  entities 
 in  the  same  lawsuit  unless  those  persons  are  parties  to  a  single  transaction.  An  award  shall 
 determine  the  rights  and  obligations  of  the  named  parties  only,  and  only  with  respect  to  the 
 claims  in  the  lawsuit,  and  shall  not  (i)  determine  the  rights,  obligations,  or  interests  of  anyone 
 other  than  a  named  party,  or  resolve  any  claim  of  anyone  other  than  a  named  party,  or  (ii)  make 
 an  award  for  the  benefit  of,  or  against,  anyone  other  than  a  named  party.  No  administrator  or 
 arbitrator  shall  have  the  power  or  authority  to  waive,  modify,  or  fail  to  enforce  this  paragraph, 
 and  any  attempt  to  do  so,  whether  by  rule,  policy,  arbitration  decision  or  otherwise,  shall  be 
 invalid  and  unenforceable.  Any  challenge  to  the  validity  of  this  paragraph  shall  be  determined 
 exclusively  by  a  court  and  not  by  the  administrator  or  any  arbitrator.  If  this  paragraph  shall  be 
 deemed  unenforceable,  then  any  proceeding  in  the  nature  of  a  class  action  shall  be  handled  in 
 court, not in arbitration 

 7.3  Consent to Jurisdiction and Service of Process; Waiver of Jury Trial. 

 (a)  Issuer  and  each  Holder  hereby:  (i)  irrevocably  submits  to  the  jurisdiction 
 of  the  Court  of  Common  Pleas  of  Allegheny  County,  Pennsylvania  and  to  the  jurisdiction  of  the 
 United  States  District  Court  for  the  Western  District  of  Pennsylvania  for  the  purposes  of  any 
 action  or  proceeding  arising  out  of  or  relating  to  any  of  this  Agreement  or  the  Notes  or  the 
 subject  matter  thereof  and  brought  by  the  Administrative  Agent  on  behalf  of  the  Holder;  (ii) 
 waives  and  agrees  not  to  assert,  by  way  of  motion,  as  a  defense  or  otherwise,  in  any  such 
 action  or  proceeding,  any  claim  that  (A)  it  is  not  personally  subject  to  the  jurisdiction  of  such 
 courts,  (B)  the  action  or  proceeding  is  brought  in  an  inconvenient  forum  or  (C)  the  venue  of  the 
 action  or  proceeding  is  improper;  and  (iii)  agrees  that,  notwithstanding  any  right  or  privilege  it 
 may  possess  at  any  time,  such  party  and  its  assets  are  subject  to  suit  on  account  of  the 
 obligations assumed by it hereunder. 

 (b)  THE  PARTIES  WAIVE  THE  RIGHT  TO  A  TRIAL  BY  JURY  IN  ANY 
 ACTION  OR  PROCEEDING  ARISING  OUT  OF  OR  RELATING  TO  ANY  OF  THE 
 TRANSACTION  DOCUMENTS  OR  THE  SUBJECT  MATTER  THEREOF  AND  BROUGHT  BY 
 ANY OTHER PARTY. 

 (c)  The  Holders  acknowledge  that  this  is  a  commercial  transaction,  that  the 
 foregoing  provisions  for  consent  to  jurisdiction,  service  of  process  and  waiver  of  jury  trial  have 
 been  read,  understood  and  voluntarily  agreed  to  by  them  and  that  by  agreeing  to  such 
 provisions  they  are  waiving  important  legal  rights.  The  obligations  of  the  parties  under  this 
 Section will survive any termination of this Agreement. 



 7.4  Creditor-Debtor  Relationship.  The  relationship  between  each  Holder,  on 
 the one hand, and the Issuer, on the other hand, is solely that of creditor and debtor. 

 7.5  Expenses.  Each  party  shall  be  responsible  for  its  own  expenses, 
 including  without  limitation  all  attorney's  fees  which  arise  out  of  or  relate  to  the  documentation  of 
 this  Agreement  or  the  Notes.  Upon  the  occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default  or  commencement  of 
 an  Enforcement  Proceeding,  the  costs  and  expenses  incurred  by  the  Administrative  Agent  on 
 behalf  of  the  Holders,  including  reasonable  attorneys’  fees  and  costs,  shall  be  added  to  and 
 become a part of the obligations owed by the Issuer under this Agreement. 

 7.6  Notices.  All  notices,  consents,  requests,  demands  and  other 
 communications  required  or  permitted  hereunder:  (a)  will  be  in  writing;  (b)  will  be  sent  by 
 electronic  delivery,  including  all  tax  forms,  to  the  email  address  provided  by  the  Holder  on  the 
 Site  and  shall  be  deemed  transmitted  when  sent.  Notices  to  the  Administrative  Agent  and  the 
 Issuer  may  be  sent  electronically  to  the  email  addresses  provided  in  their  respective  signature 
 blocks. 

 7.7  Amendments.  This  Agreement  and  the  Notes  may  be  amended  only  by  a 
 writing  signed  by  the  Issuer  on  the  one  hand  and  by  the  Administrative  Agent  on  behalf  of  the 
 Holders  on  the  other  hand,  and  any  such  amendment  will  be  effective  only  to  the  extent 
 specifically set forth in such writing. 

 7.8  Confidentiality.  Each  of  the  Holders  shall  maintain  in  confidence  in 
 accordance  with  its  customary  procedures  for  handling  confidential  information,  all  written 
 information  that  the  Issuer,  furnishes  to  Holders  ("Confidential  Information"),  other  than  any  such 
 Confidential  Information  that  become  generally  available  to  the  public  other  than  as  a  result  of  a 
 breach  by  the  Holders  of  its  obligations  hereunder  or  that  is  or  becomes  available  to  the  Holders 
 from  a  source  other  than  the  Issuer,  and  that  is  not,  to  the  actual  knowledge  of  the  recipient 
 thereof, subject to obligations of confidentiality with respect thereto. 

 7.9  Miscellaneous.  This  Agreement  and  the  Notes:  (a)  may  not  be  assigned, 
 pledged  or  otherwise  transferred,  whether  by  operation  of  law  or  otherwise,  without  the  prior 
 consent  of  the  Issuer;  (b)  may  be  executed  in  electronically  and  in  counterparts  by  the  parties, 
 which  shall  be  deemed  effective  as  an  original  and  will  constitute  one  and  the  same  instrument; 
 (c)  contain  the  entire  agreement  of  the  parties  with  respect  to  the  transactions  contemplated 
 hereby  and  thereby  and  supersede  all  prior  written  and  oral  agreements,  and  all 
 contemporaneous  oral  agreements,  relating  to  such  transactions;  (d)  are  governed  by,  and  will 
 be  construed  and  enforced  in  accordance  with,  the  laws  of  the  Commonwealth  of  Pennsylvania 
 without  giving  effect  to  any  conflict  of  laws  rules;  and  (e)  are  binding  upon,  and  will  inure  to  the 
 benefit  of,  the  parties  and  their  respective  successors  and  permitted  assigns.  The  waiver  by  a 
 party  of  any  breach  or  violation  of  any  provision  of  this  Agreement  will  not  operate  or  be 
 construed  a  waiver  of  any  subsequent  breach  or  violation  hereof.  Any  provision  of  this 
 Agreement  which  is  prohibited  or  unenforceable  in  any  jurisdiction  will,  as  to  such  jurisdiction, 
 be  ineffective  to  the  extent  of  such  prohibition  or  unenforceability  without  invalidating  the 
 remaining  portions  hereof  or  affecting  the  validity  or  enforceability  of  such  provision  in  any  other 
 jurisdiction. 



 SECURITY AGREEMENT 

 This Security Agreement by South Shore Dis�lling, LLC, Pennsylvania Limited Liability Company} 
 (the “  Debtor  ”), having a principal place of business  located at 412 Pine Trees Drive Carnegie, PA 15106 
 and Honeycomb Collateral LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, or any of its successors or assigns 
 (the “  Collateral Agent  ” or “  Secured Party  ”). 

 Recitals 

 A.  The Debtor has entered into that certain Note Purchase Agreement (the “  NPA  ”) pursuant to 
 which the Debtor, as Issuer, issued certain notes (collec�vely the “  Notes  ”) to holders (the “  Holders  ”) 
 purchased pursuant to an offering exempt from registra�on under sec�on 4(a)(6) of the Securi�es Act of 
 1933 (the “  Title III Offering  ”), conducted on  www.HoneycombCredit.com  maintained by Honeycomb 
 Credit, Inc. (the “  Portal  ”); and 

 B.  Pursuant to the terms of the NPA, it is a condi�on precedent to the Holders’ agreement to 
 purchase the Notes, that the Debtor grant to and create in favor of the Collateral Agent (for the benefit 
 of the Holders) a first priority security interest in the Collateral (defined below) to secure repayment of 
 the obliga�ons owed to the Holders by the Debtor under the Notes. 

 NOW, THEREFORE  , intending to be legally bound by this  Agreement, Debtor and Secured Party mutually 
 covenant and agree as follows: 

 1.  Grant  of  Security  Interest  .  To  secure  the  payment  of  all  amounts  due  under  the  Notes,  the 
 Debtor  hereby  grants  to  the  Collateral  Agent  a  security  interest  (the  “  Security  Interest  ”)  in  the  assets 
 listed  on  Schedule  A  and  any  proceeds,  subs�tu�ons,  replacements  thereof  or  addi�ons  thereto  (the 
 “  Collateral  ”).  This  Agreement  cons�tutes  a  “security  agreement”  within  the  meaning  of  the  Uniform 
 Commercial  Code  as  adopted  in  Pennsylvania  (the  “  Code  ”).  All  capitalized  terms  in  this  Agreement,  if  not 
 otherwise defined, shall have the meaning given to them by the Code. 

 2.  Rights  and  Remedies  of  a  Secured  Party  .  In  addi�on  to  all  rights  and  remedies  given  to  the 
 Secured  Party  pursuant  to  the  NPA  and  this  Security  Agreement,  the  Secured  Party  shall  have  all  of  the 
 rights  and  remedies  of  a  secured  party  under  the  Code  (whether  or  not  the  Code  applies  to  the 
 Collateral). 

 3.  Authoriza�on  to  File  Financing  Statements  .  The  Debtor  hereby  irrevocably  authorizes  the 
 Collateral  Agent  at  any  �me  and  from  �me  to  �me  to  file  in  any  filing  office  in  any  Uniform  Commercial 
 Code jurisdic�on any ini�al financing statements and amendments thereto 

 4.  Debtor’s  Warran�es,  Representa�ons  and  Agreements  .  The  Debtor  represents  and  warrants 
 to Secured Party and agrees that: 



 (a)  Except  for  the  security  interest  herein  granted,  Debtor  is  the  owner  of  the  Collateral  free 
 from  any  adverse  lien,  security  interest  or  encumbrance;  no  financing  statement  covering 
 any  of  the  Collateral  or  any  proceeds  thereof  is  on  file  in  any  public  office;  and  the  Debtor 
 will  defend  the  Collateral  against  all  claims  and  demands  of  all  persons  at  any  �me  claiming 
 the same or any interest therein; 

 (b)  The  exact  legal  name  of  Debtor  as  is  set  forth  in  the  first  paragraph  of  the  Agreement  and 
 Debtor  shall  not  change  its  legal  name  without  giving  secured  party  thirty  (30)  days  prior 
 wri�en no�ce thereof; 

 (c)  The  state  of  forma�on  of  the  Debtor  is  Pennsylvania.  Debtor  shall  not  change  the  state  of  its 
 incorpora�on  or  forma�on  without  giving  Secured  Party  thirty  days  prior  wri�en  no�ce 
 thereof; 

 (d)  Debtor  must  keep  complete  and  accurate  Books  and  Records  (as  used  herein,  the  term 
 “Books  and  Records”  is  defined  to  include  all  books  of  original  and  final  entry,  including 
 computer  programs,  so�ware,  stored  material  and  data  banks  associated  with  or  arising  out 
 of  Debtor’s  business  or  record  keeping)  and  make  all  necessary  entries  therein  to  reflect  the 
 quan��es,  costs,  value  and  loca�on  of  the  Collateral.  Debtor  agrees  to  mark  its  Books  and 
 Records  in  such  fashion  as  to  indicate  the  security  interest  granted  to  Secured  Party  herein. 
 Debtor  will  permit  Secured  Party,  its  officers,  employees  and  agents,  to  have  access  to  all  of 
 Debtor’s  Books  and  Records  and  any  other  records  pertaining  to  Debtor’s  business  which 
 Secured  Party  may  request,  and  will  cause  all  persons  including  computer  service  bureaus, 
 bookkeeping  services,  accountants  and  the  like,  to  make  all  such  Books  and  Records 
 available  to  Secured  Party,  its  officers,  employees  and  agents  and,  if  deemed  necessary  by 
 Secured  Party  in  Secured  Party’s  sole  discre�on,  permit  Secured  Party,  its  officers, 
 employees  and  agents  to  duplicate,  at  Debtor’s  expense,  the  Books  and  Records  at  Debtor’s 
 place  of  business  or  any  other  place  where  they  may  be  found.  Secured  Party’s  right  to 
 inspect  and  duplicate  Debtor’s  Books  and  Records  will  be  enforceable  at  law  by  ac�on  of 
 replevin or by any other appropriate remedy at law or in equity; 

 (e)  The  Collateral  is  and  has  been  kept  at  the  Debtor’s  principal  place  of  business  (as  set  forth 
 above),  and  Debtor’s  chief  execu�ve  office  is  and  has  been  at  the  loca�on  of  Debtor’s 
 principal place of business; 

 (f)  Debtor  must  immediately  no�fy  Secured  Party  in  wri�ng  of  any  event  causing  deteriora�on, 
 loss  or  deprecia�on  in  value  of  any  of  the  Collateral  and  the  amount  of  such  loss  or 
 deprecia�on.  Debtor  must  permit  Secured  Party,  its  officers,  employees  and  agents,  access 
 to  the  Collateral  at  any  �me  and  from  �me  to  �me,  as  and  when  requested  by  Secured 
 Party,  for  the  purposes  of  examina�on,  inspec�on  and  appraisal  thereof  and  verifica�on  of 
 Debtor’s  Books  and  Records  pertaining  thereto,  and  Debtor  will  pay  the  expenses  of  these 
 inspec�ons  and  audits  on  Secured  Party’s  request.  Debtor  will  promptly  no�fy  Secured  Party 
 in  wri�ng  if  there  is  any  change  in  the  status  or  physical  condi�on  of  any  Collateral.  Debtor 
 agrees  not  to  return  any  Collateral  to  the  supplier  thereof  without  obtaining  Secured  Party’s 
 prior wri�en consent; 



 (g)  Debtor  will  not  sell,  exchange,  lease,  rent  or  otherwise  dispose  of  any  of  the  Collateral  or  of 
 any  Debtor’s  rights  therein,  other  than  in  the  ordinary  course  of  Debtor’s  business,  without 
 the prior wri�en consent of Secured Party; 

 (h)  Debtor  will  care  for  and  preserve  the  Collateral  in  good  condi�on  and  repair  at  all  �mes  and 
 will  pay  the  cost  of  repairs  to  and  maintenance  and  preserva�on  of  the  Collateral  and  will 
 not  permit  anything  to  be  done  that  may  impair  the  value  of  any  of  the  Collateral  or  the 
 security intended to be afforded by this Agreement; 

 (i)  Un�l  the  occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default  (as  this  term  is  defined  below),  Debtor  may  use 
 the  Collateral  in  any  lawful  manner  not  inconsistent  with  the  agreements  herein  or  with  the 
 terms and condi�ons of any policy of insurance thereon; 

 (j)  No  Event  of  Default  has  occurred  and  no  event  has  occurred  which,  with  the  passage  of 
 �me or the giving of no�ce or both, could be an Event of Default hereunder; 

 (k)  Debtor  will  no�fy  the  Secured  Party  in  wri�ng  prior  to  beginning  to  engage  in  business  in 
 any corporate or fic��ous name other than its present corporate name; 

 (l)  Debtor  will  not  use  the  Collateral  in  viola�on  of  any  federal,  state  or  local  statute  or 
 ordinance; 

 (m)  Debtor will comply with each covenant set forth in the NPA; 

 (n)  Debtor  will  not  herea�er  grant  a  security  interest  in  the  Collateral  to  any  person,  firm  or 
 corpora�on; 

 (o)  If  any  of  the  Collateral  or  any  of  Debtor’s  Books  and  Records  are  at  any  �me  to  be  located 
 on  premises  leased  by  Debtor  or  on  premises  owned  by  Debtor  subject  to  a  mortgage  or 
 other  lien,  Debtor  must  obtain  and  deliver  or  cause  to  be  delivered  to  Secured  Party  prior  to 
 delivery  of  any  Collateral  or  Books  and  Records  concerning  the  Collateral  to  said  premises, 
 an  agreement,  in  form  sa�sfactory  to  Secured  Party,  waiving  the  landlord’s,  mortgagee’s  or 
 lienholder’s  rights  to  enforce  any  claim  against  Debtor  for  moneys  due  under  the  landlord’s 
 lien,  mortgagee’s  mortgage  or  other  lien  by  levy  of  distraint  or  other  similar  proceeding 
 against  the  Collateral  or  Debtor’s  Books  and  Records  and  assuring  Secured  Party’s  ability  to 
 have  access  to  the  Collateral  and  Debtor’s  Books  and  Records  in  order  to  exercise  Secured 
 Party’s rights to take possession thereof and to remove them from such premises; 

 (p)  Debtor  will  keep  itself  and  the  Collateral  insured  against  all  hazards  in  such  amounts  and  by 
 such  insurers  as  are  sa�sfactory  to  Secured  Party,  with  insurance  policies  which  provide  for 
 at  least  thirty  (30)  days  prior  wri�en  no�ce  to  Secured  Party  of  any  cancella�on  or  reduc�on 
 in  coverage.  Debtor  will  cause  Secured  Party’s  security  interest  to  be  endorsed  on  all  policies 
 of  insurance  in  such  manner  that  all  payments  for  losses  will  be  paid  to  Secured  Party  as 
 loss-payee  and  will  furnish  Secured  Party  with  evidence  of  such  insurance  and 
 endorsements.  Debtor  will  keep  such  insurance  in  full  force  and  in  effect  at  all  �mes.  In  the 
 event  that  Debtor  fails  to  pay  any  such  insurance  premiums  when  due,  Secured  Party  may 
 but  is  not  required  to  pay  such  premiums  and  add  the  costs  thereof  to  the  amounts  due 
 Secured  Party  under  the  Notes.  Debtor  hereby  assigns  to  Secured  Party  any  returned  or 
 unearned premiums which may be due upon cancella�on of any such policies for any reason 



 whatsoever  and  directs  the  insurers  to  pay  Secured  Party  any  amount  so  due,  subject  only 
 to  the  rights  of  any  lender  through  whom  Debtor  has  financed  the  payment  of  such 
 premiums to receive same; and 

 (q)  To  further  the  a�achment,  perfec�on  and  first  priority  of,  and  the  ability  of  the  Secured 
 Party  to  enforce,  the  Secured  Party's  security  interest  in  the  Collateral,  and  without 
 limita�on  on  the  Debtor’s  other  obliga�ons  in  this  Agreement,  the  Debtor  agrees,  in  each 
 case  at  the  Debtor’s  expense,  to  take  such  ac�ons  and  execute  and  deliver  such  documents 
 or  instruments  with  respect  to  the  Collateral  that  Secured  Party  reasonably  requests.  Debtor 
 further  agrees,  at  the  request  and  op�on  of  the  Secured  Party,  to  take  any  and  all  other 
 ac�ons  the  Secured  Party  may  determine  to  be  necessary  or  useful  for  the  a�achment, 
 perfec�on  and  first  priority  of,  and  the  ability  of  the  Secured  Party  to  enforce,  the  Secured 
 Party's security interest in any and all of the Collateral, including, without limita�on, 

 (i)  execu�ng,  delivering  and,  where  appropriate,  filing  financing  statements  and 
 amendments  rela�ng  thereto  under  the  Uniform  Commercial  Code,  to  the  extent,  if 
 any, that the Debtor’s signature thereon is required therefor, 

 (ii)  causing  the  Secured  Party's  name  to  be  noted  as  secured  party  on  any  cer�ficate  of 
 �tle  for  a  �tled  good  if  such  nota�on  is  a  condi�on  to  a�achment,  perfec�on  or 
 priority  of,  or  ability  of  the  Secured  Party  to  enforce,  the  Secured  Party's  security 
 interest in such Collateral, 

 (iii)  complying  with  any  provision  of  any  statute,  regula�on  or  treaty  of  the  United 
 States  as  to  any  Collateral  if  compliance  with  such  provision  is  a  condi�on  to 
 a�achment,  perfec�on  or  priority  of,  or  ability  of  the  Secured  Party  to  enforce,  the 
 Secured Party's security interest in such Collateral, 

 (iv)  obtaining  governmental  and  other  third  party  waivers,  consents  and  approvals  in 
 form  and  substance  sa�sfactory  to  Secured  Party,  including,  without  limita�on,  any 
 consent of any licensor, lessor or other person obligated on Collateral, 

 (v)  obtaining  waivers  from  mortgagees  and  landlords  in  form  and  substance 
 sa�sfactory to the Secured Party, and 

 (vi)  taking  all  ac�ons  under  any  earlier  versions  of  the  Uniform  Commercial  Code  or 
 under  any  other  law,  as  reasonably  determined  by  the  Secured  Party  to  be 
 applicable  in  any  relevant  Uniform  Commercial  Code  or  other  jurisdic�on,  including 
 any foreign jurisdic�on. 

 5.  Use  of  Collateral;  Casualty  .  Un�l  the  occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default,  Debtor  may  sell  and 
 use  the  Collateral  in  the  ordinary  course  of  its  business,  consistent  with  past  prac�ces,  and  accept  the 
 return  of  and  repossess  goods  cons�tu�ng  the  Collateral.  Immediately  upon  the  loss,  damage  or 
 destruc�on of any Collateral, Debtor will deliver to Secured Party an amount equal to the greater of 



 Debtor’s (a) actual cost or (b) replacement cost of the Collateral so lost, damaged or destroyed, less the 
 amount of any insurance proceeds thereon an�cipated to be collected and retained by Secured Party. 

 6.  Event  of  Default  .  The  occurrence  of  any  one  or  more  of  the  following  will  be  an  “Event  of 
 Default” hereunder: 

 (a)  The  failure  of  Debtor  at  any  �me  to  observe  or  perform  any  of  its  warran�es, 
 representa�ons  or  agreements  contained  in  this  Agreement  and  such  failure  is  not  cured 
 within ten (10) days following no�ce from the Collateral Agent; 

 (b)  Debtor’s  or  Debtor’s  default  under  the  terms  of  the  Notes,  the  NPA,  or  any  other  Loan 
 Document (as defined in the NPA); 

 (c)  The  subjec�on  of  the  Collateral  or  any  rights  therein  to  or  the  threat  of  any  judicial  process, 
 condemna�on or forfeiture proceedings; 

 (d)  The  insolvency  of  Debtor,  the  commencement  of  a  voluntary  or  involuntary  case  in 
 bankruptcy  against  Debtor,  the  consen�ng  of  Debtor  to  the  appointment  of  a  receiver  or 
 trustee  of  any  of  its  property  or  any  part  thereof,  or  the  entry  of  any  order  of  relief  against 
 Debtor in any case. 

 7.  Secured  Party’s  Rights  and  Remedies  .  Upon  or  a�er  the  occurrence  of  any  Event  of  Default, 
 Secured  Party  may  do  any  or  all  of  the  following,  all  of  which  rights  and  remedies  shall  be  cumula�ve  and 
 any  and  all  of  which  may  be  exercised  from  �me  to  �me  and  as  o�en  as  Secured  Party  shall  deem 
 necessary or desirable: 

 (a)  Exercise  any  and  all  rights,  privileges  and  remedies  available  to  Secured  Party  under  this 
 Agreement,  the  NPA,  the  Notes,  and  under  the  UCC,  or  any  other  applicable  law,  including 
 without  limita�on  the  right  to  require  the  Debtor  to  assemble  the  Collateral  and  make  it 
 available to Secured Party at a designated place reasonably convenient for disposi�on; 

 (b)  If  applicable,  no�fy  Debtor’s  lessees,  renters  and  account  Debtors  to  make  all  payments 
 directly  to  Secured  Party  and  to  surrender,  at  the  termina�on  of  any  lease  of  any  Collateral, 
 the  item  or  items  of  Collateral  so  leased  or  to  pay  the  sale  op�on  price,  if  any,  directly  to 
 Secured Party; 

 (c)  Cure  any  default  in  any  reasonable  manner  and  add  the  cost  of  any  such  cure  to  the  amount 
 due under the Notes and NPA; 

 (d)  Retain all of Debtor’s Books and Records; 

 (e)  Upon  ten  (10)  days  prior  wri�en  no�ce  to  Debtor,  which  no�ce  Debtor  acknowledges  is 
 sufficient,  proper  and  commercially  reasonable,  Secured  Party  may  sell,  lease  or  otherwise 
 dispose  of  the  Collateral,  at  any  �me  and  from  �me  to  �me,  in  whole  or  in  part,  at  public  or 
 private  sale,  without  adver�sement  or  no�ce  of  sale,  all  of  which  are  hereby  waived,  and 
 apply the proceeds of any such sale: 

 (i)  first,  to  the  expenses  of  Secured  Party  in  preparing  the  Collateral  for  sale,  selling  and  the 
 like,  including  without  limita�on  reasonable  a�orneys’  fees  and  expenses  incurred  by 
 Secured  Party  (including  fees  and  expenses  of  any  li�ga�on  incident  to  any  of  the 
 foregoing); 



 (ii)  second,  to  the  payment  in  full  of  all  sums  owing  to  Holders  under  the  Notes  consistent 
 with  the  terms  of  the  NPA  and  the  sa�sfac�on  of  all  of  the  Debtor’s  and  Debtor’s 
 obliga�ons under the Notes and NPA; and 

 (iii)  any excess shall be paid to Debtor. 

 The  waiver  of  any  Event  of  Default,  or  Secured  Party’s  failure  to  exercise  any  right  or  remedy  hereunder, 
 shall  not  be  deemed  a  waiver  of  any  subsequent  Event  of  Default  or  of  the  right  to  exercise  that  or  any 
 other right or remedy available to Secured Party. 

 8.  Expenses  of  Enforcement  .  The  Debtor  will  pay  all  reasonable  expenses  of  the  Collateral 
 Agent,  including  a�orneys’  fees,  incurred  by  the  Collateral  Agent  in  enforcing  its  rights  and  remedies 
 hereunder.  If  the  Collateral  Agent  brings  suit  (or  files  any  claim  in  any  bankruptcy,  reorganiza�on, 
 insolvency  or  other  proceeding)  to  enforce  any  such  rights  or  remedies  and  shall  be  en�tled  to  judgment 
 (or  other  recovery)  in  such  ac�on  (or  other  proceeding)  then  the  Collateral  Agent  may  recover,  in 
 addi�on  to  all  other  amounts  payable  hereunder,  its  reasonable  expenses  in  connec�on  therewith, 
 including  a�orneys’  fees,  and  the  amount  of  such  expenses  shall  be  included  in  such  judgment  (or  other 
 form of award). 

 9.  Termina�on  of  Security  Interest  .  When  and  only  when  all  amounts  due  under  the  Notes,  the 
 Note  Indenture,  and  this  Agreement  shall  have  been  paid  in  full,  then  the  Security  Interest  granted  to  the 
 Collateral  Agent  pursuant  to  this  Agreement  shall  terminate  and,  at  the  request  and  expense  of  the 
 Debtor,  the  Collateral  Agent  will  execute  and  deliver  to  the  Debtor  such  wri�en  evidence  thereof, 
 including termina�on statements, and take such other ac�on as the Debtor may reasonably request. 

 10.  Miscellaneous  . 

 (a)  Amendments;  Waivers  .  No  amendment,  modifica�on,  or  waiver  of  any  provision  of  this 
 Agreement  shall  be  binding  unless  in  wri�ng  and  signed  by  the  party  against  whom  the 
 opera�on  of  such  amendment,  modifica�on,  or  waiver  is  sought  to  be  enforced.  No  delay  in 
 the  exercise  of  any  right  shall  be  deemed  a  waiver  thereof,  nor  shall  the  waiver  of  a  right  or 
 remedy in a par�cular instance cons�tute a waiver of such right or remedy generally. 

 (b)  No�ces  .  Any  no�ce  or  document  required  or  permi�ed  to  be  given  under  this  Agreement 
 may  be  given  by  a  party  or  by  its  legal  counsel  and  shall  be  deemed  to  be  given  (i)  one  day 
 a�er  the  date  such  no�ce  is  deposited  with  a  commercial  overnight  delivery  service  with 
 delivery  fees  paid,  or  (ii)  on  the  date  transmi�ed  by  email  with  wri�en  acknowledgment  of 
 receipt  (including  by  email),  to  the  following  addresses  or  such  other  address  or  addresses  as 
 the par�es may designate from �me to �me by no�ce sa�sfactory under this sec�on: 



 Email:  chris�an@honeycombcredit.com 
 Debtor  c/o Talleyrand Holdings, LLC 

 South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 
 412 Pine Trees Drive Carnegie, PA 15106 

 (c)  Governing  Law  .  This  Agreement  shall  be  governed  by  the  internal  laws  of  Pennsylvania 
 without  giving  effect  to  the  principles  of  conflicts  of  laws.  Each  party  hereby  consents  to  the 
 personal  jurisdic�on  of  the  Federal  or  Pennsylvania  courts  located  in  or  most  geographically 
 convenient  to  Allegheny  County,  Pennsylvania  and  agrees  that  all  disputes  arising  from  this 
 Agreement  may  be  prosecuted  in  such  courts.  Each  party  hereby  agrees  that  any  such  court 
 shall  have  in  personam  jurisdic�on  over  such  party  and  consents  to  service  of  process  by 
 no�ce  sent  by  regular  mail  to  the  address  set  forth  above  and/or  by  any  means  authorized 
 by Pennsylvania law. 

 (d)  Waiver  of  Jury  Trial  .  T  HE  D  EBTOR  WAIVES  ITS  RIGHT  TO  A  JURY  TRIAL  WITH  RESPECT  TO  ANY  ACTION  OR  CLAIM  ARISING 

 OUT  OF  ANY  DISPUTE  IN  CONNECTION  WITH  THIS  AGREEMENT  ,  ANY  RIGHTS  ,  REMEDIES  ,  OBLIGATIONS  ,  OR  DUTIES  HEREUNDER  ,  OR 

 THE  PERFORMANCE  OR  ENFORCEMENT  HEREOF  OR  THEREOF  .  E  XCEPT  AS  PROHIBITED  BY  LAW  ,  THE  D  EBTOR  WAIVES  ANY  RIGHT 

 WHICH  IT  MAY  HAVE  TO  CLAIM  OR  RECOVER  IN  ANY  LITIGATION  REFERRED  TO  IN  THE  PRECEDING  SENTENCE  ANY  SPECIAL  , 
 EXEMPLARY  ,  PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OR ANY  DAMAGES OTHER THAN  ,  OR IN ADDITION TO  ,  ACTUAL DAMAGES  . 

 (e)  Language  Construc�on  .  The  language  of  this  Agreement  shall  be  construed  in  accordance 
 with  its  fair  meaning  and  not  for  or  against  any  party.  The  par�es  acknowledge  that  each 
 party  has  had  an  opportunity  for  its  counsel  to  review  and  par�cipate  in  the  dra�ing  of  this 
 Agreement  and,  accordingly,  that  the  rule  of  construc�on  that  would  resolve  ambigui�es  in 
 favor of non-dra�ing par�es shall not apply to the interpreta�on of this Agreement. 

 (f)  Signatures  .  This  Agreement  may  be  signed  (i)  in  counterparts,  each  of  which  shall  be 
 deemed  to  be  a  fully-executed  original;  and  (ii)  electronically,  e.g.,  via  DocuSign.  An  original 
 signature  transmi�ed  by  facsimile  or  email  shall  be  deemed  to  be  original  for  purposes  of 
 this Agreement. 

 (g)  No  Third  Party  Beneficiaries  .  This  Agreement  is  made  for  the  sole  benefit  of  the  par�es  and 
 the  Holders.  No  other  persons  shall  have  any  rights  or  remedies  by  reason  of  this  Agreement 
 against  any  of  the  par�es  or  shall  be  considered  to  be  third  party  beneficiaries  of  this 
 Agreement in any way. 

 (h)  Binding  Effect  .  This  Agreement  shall  inure  to  the  benefit  of  the  respec�ve  heirs,  legal 
 representa�ves  and  permi�ed  assigns  of  each  party,  and  shall  be  binding  upon  the  heirs, 
 legal representa�ves, successors and assigns of each party. 

 (i)  Titles  and  Cap�ons  .  All  ar�cle,  sec�on  and  paragraph  �tles  and  cap�ons  contained  in  this 
 Agreement are for convenience only and are not deemed a part of the context hereof. 



 (j)  Pronouns  and  Plurals  .  All  pronouns  and  any  varia�ons  thereof  are  deemed  to  refer  to  the 
 masculine,  feminine,  neuter,  singular  or  plural  as  the  iden�ty  of  the  person  or  persons  may 
 require. 

 (k)  Days  .  Any  period  of  days  mandated  under  this  Agreement  shall  be  determined  by  reference 
 to  calendar  days,  not  business  days,  except  that  any  payments,  no�ces,  or  other 
 performance  falling  due  on  a  Saturday,  Sunday,  or  federal  government  holiday  shall  be 
 considered �mely if paid, given, or performed on the next succeeding business day. 

 (l)  En�re  Agreement  .  This  Agreement  cons�tutes  the  en�re  agreement  between  the  par�es 
 with respect to its subject ma�er and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings. 

 SCHEDULE A 

 Collateral 

 All tangible and intangible property of the Debtor acquired with Honeycomb campaign funds, whether 
 owned or herea�er acquired, wherever located, including but not limited to, the Debtor’s interest now 
 owned and herea�er acquired in the following types or items of property (all terms used herein shall have 
 the meanings set forth in Ar�cle 9 of the UCC), including but not limited to all accessions, addi�ons, 
 replacements, and subs�tu�ons rela�ng to any of the foregoing and all records of any kind rela�ng to any 
 of the foregoing: 

 All equipment including, but not limited to machinery, vehicles, furniture, fixtures, 
 manufacturing equipment, farm machinery and equipment, shop equipment, office and record 
 keeping equipment, parts, and tools acquired with funds received through the Debtor’s 
 Honeycomb campaign. The Property includes any equipment described in a list or schedule 
 Debtor gives to Secured Party but such a list is not necessary to create a valid security interest 
 in all of Debtor’s equipment. 



 I cer�fy that the financial condi�on of South Shore Dis�lling, LLC expressed in this Form C is accurate, 
 true, and complete in all material respects. As this is a startup business, there are no financial statements 
 to review. I cer�fy that all statements of fact about the Company included in this Form C are accurate 
 and complete to the best of my knowledge. 

 Garry McCann 

 South Shore Dis�lling, LLC 



 SOUTH SHORE DISTILLING, LLC 
 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 

 Financial Statements – Cash Basis 
 As of December 31, 2021 and October 12, 2021 and 

 For the period October 13, 2021 to December 31, 2021 

 and Independent Auditor’s Report Thereon 

 www.schneiderdowns.com 



 C O N T E N T S 

 PAGE 

 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  1 

 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 Balance Sheets – Cash Basis, December 31, 2021 and October 12, 2021  3 

 Statement of Operations and Changes in Members’ Equity – Cash Basis, for the period 
 October 13, 2021 to December 31, 2021  4 

 Statement of Cash Flows – Cash Basis, for the period October 13, 2021 to 
 December 31, 2021  5 

 Notes to Financial Statements – Cash Basis  6 



 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 Members 
 South Shore Distilling, LLC 
 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 

 Opinion 

 We  have  audited  the  accompanying  financial  statements  of  South  Shore  Distilling,  LLC  (Company),  which 
 comprise  the  balance  sheets  –  cash  basis  as  of  December  31,  2021  and  October  12,  2021,  and  the  related 
 statements  of  operations  and  changes  in  members’  equity  –  cash  basis  and  cash  flows  –  cash  basis  for  the  period 
 October 13, 2021 to December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

 In  our  opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to  above  present  fairly,  in  all  material  respects,  the  financial 
 position  of  the  Company  as  of  December  31,  2021  and  October  12,  2021,  and  the  results  of  its  operations  and  its 
 cash  flows  for  the  period  October  13,  2021  to  December  31,  2021  in  accordance  with  accounting  principles 
 generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 Basis for Opinion 

 We  conducted  our  audits  in  accordance  with  auditing  standards  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of 
 America.  Our  responsibilities  under  those  standards  are  further  described  in  the  Auditor’s  Responsibilities  for  the 
 Audit  of  the  Financial  Statements  section  of  our  report.  We  are  required  to  be  independent  of  the  Company  and  to 
 meet  our  other  ethical  responsibilities  in  accordance  with  the  relevant  ethical  requirements  relating  to  our  audits. 
 We  believe  that  the  audit  evidence  we  have  obtained  is  sufficient  and  appropriate  to  provide  a  basis  for  our  audit 
 opinion. 

 Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting 

 We  draw  attention  to  Note  2  of  the  financial  statements,  which  describes  the  basis  of  accounting.  The  financial 
 statements  are  prepared  on  the  cash  basis  of  accounting,  which  is  a  basis  of  accounting  other  than  accounting 
 principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America.  Our  opinion  is  not  modified  with  respect  to  this 
 matter. 

 Emphasis of Matter - Going Concern 

 The  accompanying  financial  statement  has  been  prepared  assuming  that  the  entity  will  continue  as  a  going 
 concern.  As  discussed  in  Note  3  to  the  financial  statement,  the  Company  is  currently  in  development  stage. 
 Management’s  evaluation  of  the  events  and  conditions  and  management’s  plans  to  mitigate  these  matters  are  also 
 described  in  Note  3.  The  financial  statement  does  not  include  any  adjustments  that  might  result  from  the  outcome 
 of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
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 Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

 Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial  statements  in  accordance  with 
 accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America,  and  for  the  design,  implementation  and 
 maintenance  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  financial  statements  that  are 
 free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 In  preparing  the  financial  statements,  management  is  required  to  evaluate  whether  there  are  conditions  or  events, 
 considered  in  the  aggregate,  that  raise  substantial  doubt  about  the  Company’s  ability  to  continue  as  a  going 
 concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 

 Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 Our  objectives  are  to  obtain  reasonable  assurance  about  whether  the  financial  statements  as  a  whole  are  free  from 
 material  misstatement,  whether  due  to  fraud  or  error,  and  to  issue  an  auditor’s  report  that  includes  our  opinion. 
 Reasonable  assurance  is  a  high  level  of  assurance  but  is  not  absolute  assurance  and  therefore  is  not  a  guarantee 
 that  an  audit  conducted  in  accordance  with  generally  accepted  auditing  standards  will  always  detect  a  material 
 misstatement  when  it  exists.  The  risk  of  not  detecting  a  material  misstatement  resulting  from  fraud  is  higher  than 
 for  one  resulting  from  error,  as  fraud  may  involve  collusion,  forgery,  intentional  omissions,  misrepresentations  or 
 the  override  of  internal  control.  Misstatements,  including  omissions,  are  considered  material  if  there  is  a 
 substantial  likelihood  that,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  they  would  influence  the  judgment  made  by  a 
 reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

 In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

 ●  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 ●  Identify  and  assess  the  risks  of  material  misstatement  of  the  financial  statements,  whether  due  to  fraud  or 
 error,  and  design  and  perform  audit  procedures  responsive  to  those  risks.  Such  procedures  include 
 examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 ●  Obtain  an  understanding  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the  audit  in  order  to  design  audit  procedures  that 
 are  appropriate  in  the  circumstances,  but  not  for  the  purpose  of  expressing  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness 
 of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 ●  Evaluate  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of  significant  accounting 
 estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 ●  Conclude  whether,  in  our  judgment,  there  are  conditions  or  events,  considered  in  the  aggregate,  that  raise 
 substantial  doubt  about  the  Company’s  ability  to  continue  as  a  going  concern  for  a  reasonable  period  of 
 time. 

 We  are  required  to  communicate  with  those  charged  with  governance  regarding,  among  other  matters,  the  planned 
 scope  and  timing  of  the  audit,  significant  audit  findings,  and  certain  internal  control  related  matters  that  we 
 identified during the audits. 

 Schneider Downs & Co., Inc. 
 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 
 March 14, 2022 



 SOUTH SHORE DISTILLING, LLC 

 BALANCE SHEETS - CASH BASIS 
 DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND OCTOBER 12, 2021

 December 31,  October 12, 
 2021  2021 

 ASSETS 

 $  5,000 

 LIABILITIES 

 - 

 MEMBERS' EQUITY 

 5,000 

 $  5,000 

 See notes to financial statements 
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 SOUTH SHORE DISTILLING, LLC 

 STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY - CASH BASIS 
 FOR THE PERIOD FROM OCTOBER 13, 2021 TO DECEMBER 31, 2021 

 October 13, 2021 to 
 December 31, 2021 

 REVENUES  - 

 EXPENSES  - 

 Net Income  - 

 MEMBERS' EQUITY 
 Beginning of period  $  5,000 

 Contributions  - 

 End of period  $  5,000



 SOUTH SHORE DISTILLING, LLC 

 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - CASH BASIS 
 FOR THE PERIOD FROM OCTOBER 13, 2021 TO DECEMBER 31, 

 2021 

 October 13, 2021 to 
 December 31, 2021 

 Net income  - 

 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 Accrued escrow  $  8,327 

 Net Increase In Cash and Cash Equivalents  8,327 

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 Beginning of year  5,000 

 End of year  $  13,327



 SOUTH SHORE DISTILLING, LLC 

 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CASH BASIS 
 DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND OCTOBER 12, 2021 

 NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION 

 South  Shore  Distilling,  LLC  (Company)  was  formed  on  August  5,  2021  and  is  owned  100%  by  Tallyrand 
 Holdings, LLC. The Company is a craft distillery located in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. 

 As of December 31, 2021, the Company had not commenced operations. 

 NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 A  summary  of  significant  accounting  policies  consistently  applied  by  management  in  the  preparation  of 
 the accompanying financial statements follows: 

 Basis  of  Accounting  -  The  financial  statements  of  the  Company  have  been  prepared  on  the  cash  basis  of 
 accounting,  which  is  a  comprehensive  basis  other  than  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United 
 States  of  America  (GAAP).  The  cash  basis  of  accounting  differs  from  GAAP  primarily  because  revenues  are 
 recognized  when  received  rather  than  when  earned  and  expenses  are  recorded  when  paid  rather  than  when 
 incurred.  The  financial  statements  therefore  present  only  cash  and  cash  equivalents  and  changes  therein  in  the 
 form of cash receipts and disbursements. 

 Use  of  Estimates  -  The  preparation  of  the  financial  statements  in  conformity  with  the  cash  basis  of 
 accounting  requires  management  to  make  estimates  and  assumptions  that  affect  the  reported  amounts  of  assets  and 
 liabilities  and  the  disclosure  of  contingent  assets  and  liabilities  at  the  date  of  the  financial  statements.  Actual 
 results could differ from those estimates. 

 Cash  -  The  Company  maintains,  at  various  financial  institutions,  cash  and  cash  equivalents  that  may  at 
 times  exceed  federally  insured  amounts.  Restricted  cash  approximating  $8,300  is  included  on  the  balance  sheet  – 
 cash  basis  at  December  31,  2021.  Pursuant  to  the  promissory  note  entered  into  by  the  Company  (Note  4),  the 
 Company  is  required  to  maintain  this  amount  in  escrow  until  the  promissory  note  is  finalized,  at  which  time  this 
 amount will be converted to the promissory note. 

 Income  Taxes  -  The  Company  is  organized  as  a  limited  liability  company;  therefore,  for  federal  and  state 
 income  tax  purposes,  all  income,  expenses,  gains,  losses  and  tax  credits  generated  flow  through  to  the  members 
 and,  accordingly,  do  not  result  in  a  provision  for  income  taxes  for  the  Company.  Net  income  (loss)  for  financial 
 statement  purposes  may  differ  significantly  from  taxable  income  because  of  differences  between  the  tax  basis  and 
 financial  reporting  basis  of  assets  and  liabilities  and  the  taxable  income  allocation  requirements  under  the 
 Company’s  LLC  agreement.  The  taxable  income  or  loss  of  the  Company  is  included  in  the  tax  returns  of  the 
 members in accordance with their respective ownership. 

 NOTE 3 - GOING CONCERN 

 The  Company  is  subject  to  risks  and  uncertainties  associated  with  the  restaurant  industry,  including 
 supply  chain  and  labor  force  disruptions.  As  of  the  December  31,  2021,  the  Company  has  not  commenced 
 operations  and  has  equity  of  $5,000.  These  factors  raise  substantial  doubt  about  the  Company’s  ability  to  continue 
 as  a  going  concern.  The  continued  existence  of  the  Company  depends  on  several  factors,  including  but  not  limited 
 to its ability to secure additional funding and capital. 

 Subsequent to year-end, the Company obtained additional funding approximating $254,000. (See Note 4.) 



 SOUTH SHORE DISTILLING, LLC 

 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CASH BASIS 
 DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND OCTOBER 12, 2021 

 NOTE 4 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 Subsequent  Events  -  Management  has  evaluated  subsequent  events  through  March  14,  2022,  the  date  on 
 which  the  balance  sheet  was  available  to  be  issued.  In  February  2022,  the  Company  entered  into  a  promissory 
 note  (Note)  with  a  bank  with  a  principal  balance  approximating  $254,000.  The  Note  bears  interest  at  7.75%  and 
 matures  in  seven  years.  Interest  only  payments  $1,600  monthly  are  due  from  March  2022  to  March  2023.  Starting 
 in March 2023, monthly principal and interest approximating $3,900 are due through February 2030. 
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